MDM2-Mediated Degradation of SIRT6 Phosphorylated by AKT1 Promotes Tumorigenesis and Trastuzumab Resistance in Breast Cancer







—Umadevi Thirumurthi—

### MDM2-Mediated Degradation of SIRT6 Phosphorylated by AKT1 Promotes Tumorigenesis and Trastuzumab Resistance in Breast Cancer

А

Dissertation Presented to the Faculty of The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston And The University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences In Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements For the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

By

Umadevi Thirumurthi, M.S. Houston, Texas

#### **Published By:**

MedCrave Group LLC October 26, 2016

### Contents

Dedication

Acknowledgements

Abstract

### Chapter 1

Introduction

	Sirtuins	2
	Sirtuins and Cancer	2
	Sirtuin6	3
	Sirt6 and Cancer	3
	Breast Cancer And Insulin-Like Growth Factor (Igf) /Pi3k/Akt Signaling	4
	Relation Between Igf/Akt Signaling and Sirt6	5
	Trastuzumab Resistance In Her2 Overexpressing Breast Cancer	5
	Hypothesis	5
er 2		7

1

Chapter 2	7
Material and Method	8
Cell Lines	8
Antibodies	8
Reagents	8
Plasmids	8
Immunoblotting, Immunoprecipitation, And Ubiquitination Assays	8
In Vitro Kinase Assay	8
Identification Of Phosphorylation Sites By Mass Spectrometry Analysis	8
Cell Growth, Soft Agar, And Cell Viability Assays	8
Animal Studies	9
Breast Tumor Tissue Specimens	9
Immunohistochemical Staining	9
Statistical Analysis	9

Chapter 3	10
Sirt6 Is Downregulated By Akt1	11
Activation Of Akt1 Promotes Sirt6 Degradation	11
Inverse Correlation Between Akt Activation And Sirt6 Levels In Human Breast Cancer	14
Akt1 Promotes Sirt6 Degradation In A Proteosome Dependent Manner	15

Chapter 4	17
Akt1 Interacts With And Phosphorylates Sirt6	18
Akt1 Interacts With Sirt6	18
Akt1 Phosphorylates Sirt6 On Ser338	18
Chapter 5	22
Mdm2 Is Required For Akt1-Mediated Sirt6 Degradation	23
Mdm2 Overexpression Leads To Sirt6 Degradation	23
Mdm2 Interacts With Sirt6 And Subjects It To Proteosome-Mediated Degradation	24
Chapter 6	26
Phosphorylation Of Sirt6 By Akt1 Facilitates Mdm2-Mediated Degradation	27
Phosphorylation Of Sirt6 Is A Prerequisite For Mdm2-Mediated Degradation	27
Chapter 7	29
Nonphosphorylatable Sirt6 Inhibits Breast Cancer Tumorigenesis	30
Nonphosphorylatable Sirt6 Inhibits Breast Cancer Tumorigenesis	30
High Sirt6 Levels Correlate With Better Prognosis In Breast Cancer Patients	30
Chapter 8	35
Loss Of Sirt6 Results In Trastuzumab Resistance In Her2 Overexpressing Breast Cancer Cells	36
Loss Of Sirt6 Results In Trastuzumab Resistance In Her2 Overexpressing Breast Cancer Cells	36
Chapter 9	38
Summary and Discussion	39
Summary	39
Discussion	39
Future Directions	41
To study the relation between SIRT6 and trastuzumab resistance	42
Analysis of SIRT6 expression in trastuzumab treated patients	42
Identification of kinases responsible for phosphorylation of SIRT6 in Ser303 and Ser330	42
Bibliography	42

### References

### **Dedication**

Dedicated to my parents, Dr.Thirumurthi and Vijayalakshmi, my husband, Balasubramaniam Sekhar and my sister, Dr. Hemamalini for their unconditional love and support, without which this dream would not have been possible. A special token of love to my son, Dakshith who has filled my life with a special meaning! Last but not the least; I will always be grateful for the blessings of god almighty "Amma".

#### **Acknowledgements**

My special thanks to Dr. Mien-Chie Hung for accepting me into his lab and providing me with support and guidance throughout my stay in his lab. I would also like to thank him for believing in me and encouraging me to give my best. I couldn't have done this without him.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to the members of my advisory and supervisory committees, Dr. Mong-Hong Lee, Dr. Elsa Flores, Dr. Zhimin Lu, Dr. Oliver Bogler, Dr. Kapil Mehta, Dr. Min Gyu Lee, Dr. Zhen Fan and Dr. Rebecca Berdeaux for their invaluable feedback and suggestions.

I would also like to thank the present and past members of the Hung lab. A special thanks to Dr. Adam Labaff, my lab and office mate for initiating this project and for working closely with me. I enjoyed our frequent 'conversations with coffee'! Avery special thanks to Dr. Jia Shen (Jackie) who had been of immense support especially during the review and publication process and for her willingness to share her knowledge with me. I would also like to thank my colleagues and co-authors who helped me throughout this project, Dr.Weiya Xia, Dr.Yongkun Wei, Dr.Chia-Wei Li, Dr.Hui-Kuan Lin and Dr. Dihua Yu. Thanks to all the Hung lab members for making my experience in the lab an enjoyable one! Last but not the least; I would like to convey my heartfelt appreciation to my dear friend Joan Ritho for her love and friendship!

### **Abstract**

Sirtuin6 (SIRT6) is one of the members of the Sirtuin family and functions as a longevity assurance gene by promoting genomic stability. It also regulates various cancer-associated pathways and was recently established as a bonafide tumor suppressor in colon cancer. This suggests that SIRT6 is an attractive target for pharmacological activation in cancer treatment, and hence, identification of potential regulators of SIRT6 would be an important and critical contribution towards cancer treatment. Here, we show that AKT1 phosphorylates SIRT6 at Ser<sup>338</sup> and induces MDM2-SIRT6 interaction, priming SIRT6 for degradation via the MDM2-dependent ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Blocking SIRT6 Ser<sup>338</sup> phosphorylation prevents its degradation by MDM2 and results in inhibition of cell proliferation and breast cancer tumorigenesis *in vivo*. In addition, knockdown of SIRT6 in trastuzumab-sensitive cells renders them resistant to trastuzumab

Where as overexpression of phosphorylation defective SIRT6 mutant restores trastuzumab sensitivity in the resistant cells. Thus, activation or re-expression of SIRT6 has potential clinical application to overcome trastuzumab resistance.

# **Chapter 1** Introduction



### Introduction

#### Sirtuins

Sirtuins are a family of class III NAD<sup>+</sup> dependent deacetylases that are involved in lysine deacetylation of a wide variety of substrates including the histones and also in ADP-ribosylation. The first sirtuin was initially identified in yeast in 1984 as the Silent information regulator (Sir2) gene and it regulated transcriptional silencing of mating-type loci, ribosomal DNA and lifespan [1,2]. Their homologues were identified in Caenorhabditis elegans in 2001 [3] and in Drosophila melanogaster in 2004 [4]. There are seven sirtuins, Silent Information Regulator (SIRT) (SIRT1-SIRT7) in humans and mammals and they have different enzymatic activity, sub cellular localization, activity, tissue specificity

and targets [5]. Over the past few years, sirtuins have gained attention as important contributors of extended lifespan in both lower and higher level organisms [6,7] and also due to their role as a nexus between caloric restriction and longevity [8-11]. Due to the fact that malfunctions of even a single sirtuin results in a number of pathophysiological complications, many pharmaceutical companies have identified agents that target sirtuins [12,13]. In addition, resveratrol, a natural flavonoid present in red grapes was shown to activate some of the Sirtuins and hence mimicking caloric restriction was seen as a cure for cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes and even cancer [14].

The sirtuins have a broad range of localization and substrates. The localization pattern and some of the key substrates of different sirtuins are summarized in Table 1.

Sirtuins	Location	Activity	Substrates/Targets	Functions
SIRT1	Nucleus, Cytoplasm	Deacetylation	FOXO1, FOXO3,P53, NF- KB, NOTCH, etc	Cell survival, apoptosis, autophagy and metobolism
SIRT2	Cytoplasm, Mitochondria	Deacetylation	FOXO1, PEPCK, Tubulin, PAR-3	Autophagy, metabolism and cytoskeletal reorganization
SIRT3	Cytoplasm, Mitochondria	Deacetylation, ADP- rybosylation	SOD2, IDH2, PIP2, FOXO3, ALDH2, etc	Gene regulation
SIRT4	Mitochondria	ADP-ribosylation	GDH	Fatty acid metabolism, mitochondrial gene regulation
SIRT5	Mitochondria	Deacetylation, Demalonyation, Desuccinylation	CPS1	Metabolic homeostasis
SIRT6	Nucleus	Deacetylation, ADP- rybosylation	H3K9, NF-KB, H3K56, PARP-1, CtIP	Metabolism, genomic stability, DNA repair, aging
SIRT7	Nucleolus	Deacetylation		RNA polymerase 1 dependent gene transciption

Table 1: The localization and activity of sirtuins.

#### Sirtuins and cancer

The role of some of the sirtuins in cancer is still under debate due to the complexity in their functions and diversity of the substrates. SIRT1 has been shown to be an oncogene and is upregulated in a number of cancers including breast cancer [15,16], colon cancer [17], prostate cancer [18], pancreatic cancer [19], Hepatocellular carcinoma [20, 21], acute myeloid leukemia [22], non-melanoma skin cancers [23,24] and in adult T-cell leukemia [25].

SIRT2 has been shown to be a tumor suppressor in gliomas and deletion in locus 19q13.2, where SIRT2 is located is often deleted in gliomas [26]. SIRT2 expression is also reduced in esophageal and gastric adenocarcinomas [27], mammary carcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma [28] and an inactivating mutation has been identified in the catalytic domain of SIRT2 in melanomas [29]. Moreover, Histone 3 lysine 53(H3K53), the substrate of SIRT2 is hyper acetylated in cancer cells [30]. However, in acute myeloid leukemia cells, SIRT2 is upregulated and associated with increased cell proliferation and cell survival [31].

SIRT3 is a mitochondrial sirtuin that regulates oxidative stress and metabolism [32]. Although there is some evidence that SIRT3 might be a tumor suppressor, it is still debatable [33] as its levels are reduced in breast cancer [34] and heaptocellular carcinoma, but elevated in malignant and lymph node positive breast cancer [35]. Loss of SIRT3 leads to an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS), which in turn enhances expression of HIFdependent genes leading to a cancer phenotype [36]. On the other hand, SIRT3 overexpression inhibited the growth and induced apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells [37]. Also SIRT3 is elevated in oral cell carcinomas that are resistant to anoikis [38]. SIRT6 is one of the better studied sirtuins after SIRT1 with respect to cancer. SIRT6 is a tumor suppressor of the pancreas and colon [39]. SIRT6 overexpression has been shown to induce massive apoptosis in a number of cancer cell lines but not in normal cell lines [40]. The tumor suppressive activity of SIRT6 has been attributed to both its deacetylase activity and ADP-ribosyl transferase activity. Histone 3 lysine 56 (H3K56), a substrate of SIRT6 is hyper acetylated in a number of cancers including the breast, colon, skin, liver and thyroid [30].

SIRT7 is perceived as an oncogene as its expression is elevated in breast cancer including node-positive breast cancers and in thyroid cancer. SIRT7 is important for cancer maintenance rather than cancer initiation [41]. SIRT7 deacetylates Histone 3 lysine 18 (H3K18), leading to anchorage independent growth, loss of contact inhibition and progression to tumorigenesis [42].

#### Sirtuin 6

Sirtuin 6 (SIRT6) is a mammalian homologue of the yeast Sir2 protein. The **SIRT6** gene is localized to chromosome 19p13.3 in humans and consists of 8 exons that codes for a 355-amino acid protein [43]. SIRT6 is ubiquitously expressed in most of the tissues and predominantly localized in the nucleus and is associated with the chromatin [44,45]. The catalytic site of SIRT6 is present in the N-terminal extension and is essential for its activity and the nuclear localization signal exists between amino acids 345-351 at the C-terminal. The nuclear localization signal of SIRT6 is required for its proper nuclear localization [46,47]. SIRT6 nuclear localization is independent of its enzymatic activity [48,49].

SIRT6 has both deacetylase and ADP-ribosyl transferase activities that are dependent on NAD<sup>+</sup> levels [50]. Although SIRT6 is capable of deacetylating a number of substrates including H3K9, H3K56, it's ADP- ribosyl transferase activity is not yet well studied and it's substrates include itself and PARP1[45,51]. SIRT6 also hydrolyses long-chain fatty acyl groups from lysine residues in palmitoyl, myristoyl and butyryl acids [52].

SIRT6 is regulated positively by SIRT1 under nutritional stress by forming a complex with Forkhead Box O3 (FOXO3a) and Nuclear respiratory factor 1 (NRF1) on the NRF1-binding sites on SIRT6 promoter [53]. P53 also positively regulates SIRT6 protein levels under normal nutrient availability and leads to SIRT6 upregulation under starvation [54]. Also, miR-33b overexpression down regulates SIRT6 mRNA and protein levels [55,56].

SIRT6-deficient mice are small and exhibit severe metabolic defects including reduced levels of serum glucose and IGF-1 and they also develop aging associated abnormalities by 2-3 weeks [44]. Caloric restriction (CR) leads to increase in SIRT6 levels in a tissue-specific manner in mice that overexpress SIRT6 (MOSES mice) and the increase in SIRT6 levels was due to enhanced protein stability. The MOSES mice are protected against diet induced obesity and other metabolic defects [57]. Also SIRT6 overexpression

has been shown to extend life span in male mice through inhibition of IGF-1 signaling [58]. SIRT6 binds to ReIA subunit of NF- $\kappa$ B and gets recruited to NF- $\kappa$ B target gene promoters, deacetylates H3 Lysine 9 (H3K9) and suppress genes associated with aging and thus extends life span [59].

SIRT6 negatively regulates HIF1a by binding to it and hence SIRT6 deficient cells exhibit increased glycolysis and reduced oxygen consumption, similar to the Warburg effect [60]. SIRT6 inhibits AKT phosphorylation at residues Ser<sup>473</sup> and Thr<sup>308</sup> and the absence of SIRT6 results in enhanced activation of IGF-AKT signaling and hence leading to hypoglycemia. SIRT6 deficient mice are more sensitive to insulin and exhibit increased AKT activation in various organs even without stimulation with insulin. As a consequence of AKT hyper activation in the absence of SIRT6, increase in membrane translocation of GLUT1 and GLUT4 were seen in mice leading to enhanced glucose uptake [61]. SIRT6 interacts with and deacetylates Forkhead box protein O1 (FOXO1) leading to its nuclear exclusion and subsequent downregulation of genes involved in gluconeogenesis like Glucose-6-phosphatase (G6PC) and phospho enolpyruvate carboxykinase-1 (PCK1) [62]. Relatedly, SIRT6 also regulates gluconeogenesis by enhancing GCN5 mediated acetylation and inhibition of Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC-1a) [63].

SIRT6-/cells exhibit chromosomal aberrations like fragmented chromosomes, detached centromeres and dysfunctional telomeres [64]. SIRT6 repairs DNA double strand breaks (DSBs) through both Non-homologues end joining (NHEJ) and homologous recombination (HR) and SIRT6 deficiency results in inefficient double strand repair and base excision DNA repair pathways [44,65-67]. SIRT6 plays a role in DSB repair by regulating C-terminal binding protein (CtBP) interacting protein (CtIP) [66] and poly ADP-ribose polymerase 1 (PARP1) [67] and by physically interacting with and mobilizing DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNA-PK) to the sites of DSBs [68]. SIRT6 also recruits the chromatin remodeler SNF2H to DSBs and deacetylates H3K56. Loss of SIRT6 impairs recruitment of SNF2H and hence increases sensitivity to genotoxic stress and DNA damage [69] (Figure 1).

#### SIRT6 and cancer

SIRT6 has been shown to be associated with cancer through its role in regulating cellular stress and organismal aging [70] and through inhibition of the shift towards anaerobic glycolysis [39]. Characteristics of SIRT6 knockout or knockdown cells including genomic instability, hyperactive NF-kB signaling [71], aberrant glucose homeostasis [72], aneuploidy [73,74], are common characteristics of cancer cells and as expected, loss of SIRT6 is observed in a variety of cancers. SIRT6 downregulation in human hepatocytes leads to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) through upregulation of oncogenes such as IGF2. SIRT6 also suppresses HCC by inhibiting the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway [75]. SIRT6 acts as a tumor suppressor in gliomas by inhibiting the expression of poly(C)-binding protein (PCBP) 2 (PCBP2) by deacetylating H3K9Ac [76]. SIRT6 expression is downregulated in colon cancer cells through FOXO3a [77]. SIRT6 mRNA and protein expression were downregulated in the advanced stage of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma than in the early stage [78]. In liver cancers, c-Fos induces SIRT6 expression and in turn SIRT6 represses expression of survivin by deacetylating H3K9 and reducing NF- $\kappa$ B activation. Increasing SIRT6 levels at the liver cancer initiation stage impairs liver cancer development and SIRT6 expression was also found to be

low in human dysplastic liver nodules [79]. SIRT6 inhibits colon and pancreatic cancers through repression of MYC dependent transcription and ribosomal gene expression and SIRT6 was shown to act as tumor suppressor by regulating cancer metabolism and glycolysis and its loss could lead to tumorigenesis even in the absence of oncogene addiction [39]. Also downregulation of SIRT6 mRNA expression and Sirt6 gene copy number is observed in various human cancers [39]. Moreover, the locus in which SIRT6 gene is located is prone to high rates of Loss of Heterozygosity (LOH) in human breast cancers [80-82].



Figure 1: Summary of the functions of SIRT6.

### Breast cancer and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) /PI3K/AKT signaling

Breast cancer is the second most common malignancy among women and the second leading cause of cancer associated deaths in the US. In 2014, the American Cancer Society estimates that about 296,980 new cases of breast cancer are expected to be diagnosed among US women and around 39,620 US women are expected to die from the disease.

Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease and is classified into different subtypes according to the hormone receptor expression pattern. The relationship between breast cancer and IGF-PI3K/AKT signaling is well studied and documented. AKT is primarily activated by IGF signaling in a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) dependent manner. IGF stimulation leads to dimerization of PI3K and subsequently its autophosphorylation and activation. AKT is the central downstream effector of PI3K and is activated by interaction with PtdIns [3,4,5]P3 and followed by phosphorylation on two key residues, Thr<sup>308</sup> and Ser<sup>473</sup> by Protein Dependent Kinase 1 (PDK1) [83]. Activated AKT in turn activates a number of downstream substrates by phosphorylating serine/threonine residues in the RXRXXS/T motif [84]. AKT signaling plays a critical role in malignant transformation through activation of numerous downstream substrates via phosphorylation including but not limited to I-κB kinase (IKK), cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB), forkhead family of transcription factors (FOXOs), glycogen synthase kinase (GSK-3), p21<sup>Cip1</sup> etc. While growth factors and cytokines result in the activation of the pathway, phosphatases negatively regulate the PI3K/AKT activity [85-88].

Protein kinase B (AKT) regulates a number of cellular processes including cell survival, metabolism, cell cycle, transcriptional regulation and protein synthesis [89-91].

There are three members in the AKT family, AKT1/PKB $\alpha$ , AKT2/PKB $\beta$  and AKT3/PKB $\gamma$  and they are coded by three different genes. Although these three AKT isoforms share high homology, they differ in their biological functions. Disruption of AKT1 exhibits growth retardation in mice, while AKT2 depleted mice show normal development, but have type II diabetes like syndrome and AKT3 has been shown to be required for normal brain development in mice [92-96]. AKT/PKB pathway activation is seen in a variety of cancers including the breast, ovarian, colon, pancreas etc. [97,98].

#### **Relation between IGF/AKT signaling and SIRT6**

SIRT6 negatively regulates IGF/AKT signaling at chromatin level through deacetylation of Histone 3 Lysine 9 (H3K9) [99]. SIRT6 knockout mice exhibited cardiac hypertrophy and these failing hearts showed activation of genes related to the IGF/AKT signaling pathway like IGF-1R, IGF-2R, AKT, FOXO1, mTOR, myc and GSK3. Coincidentally, chronic AKT activation exacerbates aging induced cardiac hypertrophy [100]. SIRT6 interacts with c-Jun and inhibits its transcriptional activity. Under physiological stress and pathological conditions, when SIRT6 levels are reduced in the cells, there is de-repression of c-Jun mediated transcription, thus leading to increase in transcription of the IGF-AKT signaling pathway genes that harbor c-Jun binding sites in their promoters [101].

Transgenic male mice over expressing SIRT6 show 15% increase in lifespan when compared to control mice. The observed increase in lifespan was due to the lower levels of IGF-AKT pathway related genes in the SIRT6 over expressing male mice. Insulin and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) signaling have also been uniformly shown to regulate life span and longevity ranging from worms to mice and mammals [102-104]. Mutations in insulin receptor DAF-2 or the PI3K AGE-1 in Caenorhabditis elegans extended the life span by more than 100% in these worms [105-108]. Lifespan of female Drosophila melanogaster is extended by about 85% by mutating the insulin receptor and the insulinreceptor substrate [109,110] and heterozygous lgf1r+/mice live 26% longer than their wild type counterparts [111]. SIRT6 also inhibits phosphorylation of AKT at Ser473 and Thr<sup>308</sup> by inhibition of various upstream molecules including IRS1, IRS2 and insulin receptor and hence the absence of SIRT6 leads to enhanced insulin signaling, activation of AKT and membrane recruitment of GLUT1 and GLUT4 leading to hypoglycemia in mice [61]. This suggests an existing converse relationship between AKT and SIRT6 in aging and in cardiac hypertrophy.

### Trastuzumab resistance in HER2 over expressing breast cancers

The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (ErbB2 or HER2 or Neu) is one of the members of the ErbB family of receptor tyrosine kinases and it is over expressed in around 25% of human breast cancers [112]. On ligand binding, HER2

dimerizes with itself or with other members of the ErbB family, which results in the phosphorylation of several tyrosine residues within the regulatory domain, hence leading to its activation. HER2 contributes to oncogenesis through activation of a number of downstream signaling pathways including the Ras-Raf-MAPK and the PI3K-AKT pathways [113,114].

Trastuzumab or Herceptin is a humanized monoclonal antibody developed by Genentech that targets the extracellular region of HER2. Trastuzumab was approved for the treatment of HER2 positive breast cancer patients as an adjuvant therapy, in combination with chemotherapy [115]. Although trastuzumab had promising initial response in the patients, a subset of patients developed primary or de novo resistance and another subset of patients who responded initially, acquired resistance during the course of treatment.

A number of factors have been shown to contribute to trastuzumab resistance. Epitope masking by MUC4 and CD44, in which the binding of trastuzumab to HER2 is disrupted, upregulation of HER2 downstream signaling pathways due to mutation or loss of PTEN, increased MAPK and PI3K signaling, overexpression of HER ligands such as TGF- $\alpha$ , EGF and heregulin and impaired immunemediated response due to alteration of antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC).

Several efforts are being undertaken to overcome this issue of acquired resistance, including combining trastuzumab with PI3K inhibitors and c-Src inhibitors, which have been shown to be effective in reverting resistance to trastuzumab in preclinical settings [116,117]. Trastuzumab-DM1 (T-DM1) was recently developed by Genentech, in which the antibody is conjugated to a cytotoxic agent mertansine [118] via a thioether linker. Phase 1 clinical trial results with T-DM1 showed that the modified drug was effective in patients who had progressed on trastuzumab [119]. Also, a Phase II study showed that T-DM1 was effective as a single-agent therapy in metastatic breast cancer patients who had progressed in trastuzumab [120]. Thus these studies show that HER2 pathway is an effective therapeutic target and novel approaches to target this pathway or to overcome its signaling mediated effects would be valuable towards disease treatment.

### **Hypothesis**

Although the biological functions of SIRT6 have been gradually recognized, its upstream regulation that leads to loss of SIRT6 activity or protein levels is not well understood. A recent study reported that the phosphorylation of SIRT6 on  $S^{338}$  may regulate interactions with a subset of proteins, but no biological consequences of this phosphorylation were identified [121].

Phenotypes of SIRT6<sup>-/-</sup> mice, including accelerated aging, cardiac hypertrophy, and reduced lifespan, are similar to those associated with hyper activation of the IGF-AKT

pathway [58,122]. Also, studies have indicated that SIRT6 negatively regulates IGF-AKT signaling by inhibiting gene transcription and AKT phosphorylation [59,99]. As PI3K/AKT signaling pathway is one of the major oncogenic signaling cascades that results in tumor growth and development [123-125], we hypothesized that IGF-AKT signaling might also regulate SIRT6. If this is the case, identification of novel regulations of SIRT6 would be valuable towards the treatment of various metabolic disorders including cancer.

#### Note

Chapters 2 to 8 are based on the publication:

U. Thirumurthi, J. Shen, W. Xia, A. M. LaBaff, Y. Wei, C.-W. Li, W.-C. Chang, C.-H. Chen, H.-K. Lin, D. Yu, M.-C. Hung, MDM2-mediated degradation of SIRT6 phosphorylated by AKT1 promotes tumorigenesis and trastuzumab resistance in breast cancer. Sci. Signal. 7, ra71 (2014).

It is published with permission

# **Chapter 2** Material and Method

7

### **Material and Method**

### Cell lines

All cell lines used were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). They included HEK293T, a HEK cell line; MCF-7, a human mammary adenocarcinoma cell line from pleural effusion; MDA-MB-231, a human mammary adenocarcinoma cell line from pleural effusion; Hs578T, a human mammary carcinoma cell line: and HBL-100, a human mammary epithelial carcinoma. The BT474 (BT474-P) cell line and its trastuzumab-resistant counterpart (BT474-TtzmR) were gifts from D. Yu at The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center (Houston, TX). All cells were grown on tissue culture dishes in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium/F12 (DMEM/F12) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) and penicillin and streptomycin (100 U, 100 ng/ml) at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO2, unless specified otherwise. Before IGF (50 ng/ml) or EGF (50 ng/ml) treatment, the cells were serum-starved overnight. The concentrations and treatment durations of each chemical were as follows: MK2206 (2 µM, 1 hour), MG-132 (10 µM, 7 to 10 hours), and cycloheximide (1 µg/ml). Stable puromycin-resistant cell lines were maintained in DMEM/F12 medium that contained puromycin (1 µg/ml).

### Antibodies

Commercial antibodies against SIRT6 (1:1000), AKT1 (1:1000), AKT2 (1:1000), **AKT3** (1:1000), and phospho-AKT Ser<sup>473</sup> (1:1000) were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology; antibody against phosphorylated SIRT6 Ser<sup>338</sup> (1:500) was from Abnova; and antibodies against HA (1:2000) and Flag (1:2000) were from Sigma.

#### Reagents

The AKT inhibitor MK2206 was purchased from Selleck Chemicals. MG-132, cycloheximide, EGF, and IGF were purchased from Sigma.

#### **Plasmids**

DNA plasmids encoding Flag-SIRT6 (plasmid 13817), HAmyr-AKT1 (plasmid 9008), and HA-myr-AKT3 (plasmid 9017) were from Addgene. Wild-type MDM2 and the MDM2 deletion mutant (MDM2- 9) were gifts from J. Chen (H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL).

SIRT6-S338A and SIRT6-S338D point mutants were generated using the Quick Change Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kitfrom Stratagene using the following primers: SIRT6-S338D, 5'-GCGGCCCACCGACCCTGCCCCCACAG-3' (forward) and 5'-GTGGGGGGCAGGGTCGGTGGGCCGCTC-3' (reverse). All lentiviral pLKO.1 expression and shRNAencoding plasmids were purchased from Sigma. SIRT6 shRNA 1 clone ID: TRCN0000232532:

CCGGCTCCCTGGTCTCCAGCTTAAACTCGAGTTTAA-GCTGGAGACCAGGGAG TTTTTG; SIRT6 shRNA 2 clone ID: TRCN0000050473:CCGGTGGAAGAATGTGCCAAG-TGTACTCGAGTACACTTGG CACATTCTTCCATTTTTG. Wild-type MDM2 and MDM2 deletion mutants were gifts from J. Chen (H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL). AKT1, AKT2, and MDM2 siRNAs were purchased from Sigma.

### Immunoblotting, immunoprecipitation, and ubiquitination assays

Immunoblotting, immunoprecipitation, and ubiquitination assays were performed as previously described [124], using antibodies against SIRT6, AKT1, AKT2, phosphorylated AKT at Ser<sup>473</sup> (Cell Signaling Technology), tubulin, and actin (Sigma). For glutathione S-transferase (GST) pull-down assays, GST-SIRT6 protein (10  $\mu$ g) was incubated with 2 mg of MCF-7 cell extract overnight at 4°C. GST-tagged proteins were recovered by incubating the reaction mixture with 20  $\mu$ l of glutathione Sepharose beads at 4°C overnight. The bead pellet was washed three times in 1X phosphate-buffered saline. The boiled samples were then subjected to 10% SDS–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE).

### In vitro kinase assay

Purified GST-SIRT6 (wild-type or mutant) fragments were incubated with active AKT1 (Millipore) and 50 mM ATP (adenosine 5'-triphosphate) in a kinase buffer containing [ $^{32}P$ ] ATP (5 µCi) for 30 min at 30°C. The reaction products were resolved via SDS-PAGE, and  $^{32}P$ -labeled products were detected using autoradiography.

### Identification of phosphorylation sites by mass spectrometry analysis

HeLa cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with an antibody against SIRT6 to identify the phosphorylation sites of SIRT6 in cells. In vitro, the phosphorylation site of SIRT6 was identified using an in vitro kinase assay with recombinant, active AKT1 kinase and full-length GST-SIRT6. After protein gel electrophoresis, the bands were excised and subjected to digestion with trypsin. The enriched phosphopeptides were isolated using immobilized metal affinity chromatography and analyzed by micro-liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry using an UltiMate Capillary LC system (LC Packings) coupled to a QSTAR XL quadruple time-offlight mass spectrometer (Applied Biosystems). The product ion spectra, generated by nanoscale capillary spectrometry, were searched against National Center for Biotechnology Information databases for exact matches using the ProID (Applied Biosystems) and MASCOT search programs. Carbamidomethyl cysteine was set as a fixed modification, and serine, threonine, and tyrosine phosphorylation were set as variable modifications. All phosphopeptides identified were confirmed by manual interpretation of the spectra.

### Cell growth, soft agar, and cell viability assays

Cell growth was determined by cell counting. Cells  $(1 \times 10^5)$  were plated in triplicate in 12-well plates. They were then trypsinized at the indicated time points and counted. For the soft agar transformation assay,  $2.5 \times 10^4$  cells were seeded in 1 ml of DMEM with 10% FBS and 0.4% agarose and

overlaid on 1 ml of DMEM with 10% FBS and 0.8% agarose in each well of a six-well plate. After 2 to 3 weeks, colonies larger than 2 mm in diameter were counted.

### **Animal studies**

MDA-MB-231 cells  $(2 \times 10^6)$  with lentiviral-stable expression of SIRT6-WT, SIRT6-S338A, or SIRT6-S338D and Sh SIRT6 or Sh Luc control cells were injected into the mammary fat pads of nude mice (five per group). Tumor size was measured every 3 days with a caliper, and tumor volume was determined using the formula L ×  $W^2 \times 0.52$ , where L is the longest diameter and W is the shortest diameter. All animal procedures were conducted under regulations of Division of Laboratory Animal Medicine at The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center. Animal protocols (protocol number 06-87-06139) were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center.

### Breast tumor tissue specimens

One hundred twenty-six formalin-fixed and paraffin-

embedded infiltrating breast carcinoma patient samples were obtained from the Department of Pathology, Shanghai East Breast Disease Hospital, and People's Republic of China. Breast cancer tissue microarray containing 186 cases was purchased from Pantomics (BRC2281).

### Immunohistochemical staining

A modified immunoperoxidase staining was used as described previously [126] for staining with SIRT6 (Novus, NB100-2522), phospho-AKT Ser<sup>473</sup> (Cell Signaling Technology, 3787S), and phospho-SIRT6 (Bioss, bs-5634R-bio).

#### **Statistical analysis**

SAS software (version 8.1) was used for the statistical analysis (SAS Institute). A univariate analysis was used to determine the variable distributions. Categorical variables among the groups were compared using the  $\chi^2$  test or Fisher's exact test if 20% of the expected values were less than 5. Continuous variables were analyzed using Student's t test. A P value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# Chapter 3 Sirt6 is down regulated by AKT1

### Sirt6 is down regulated by AKT1

#### Activation of AKT1 promotes SIRT6 degradation

To determine whether AKT signaling regulates SIRT6 expression, AKT1 and AKT2 were knocked down by silencing RNA [small interfering RNA (siRNA)] in MCF-7 (Figure 2a & 2b) and MDA-MB-231 (Figure 2c) human breast cancer cells. Only knockdown of AKT1, but not AKT2, resulted in significant increase in SIRT6 protein abundance. We also observed increased reduction in the endogenous SIRT6 protein abundance with overexpression of constitutively active AKT1 in MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 3a) and exogenous SIRT6 abundance in human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293T cells (Figure 3b). Overexpression of constitutively active AKT3 did not decrease SIRT6 protein



abundance (Figure 3c), indicating that AKT1 may be the dominant kinase that regulates SIRT6 abundance. Thus, we focused on AKT1 for further experiments. Adding MK2206, an AKT inhibitor, to cultures increased the abundance of SIRT6 in MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, and two additional breast cancer cell lines, HBL-100 and Hs578T (Figure 4). Treatment with growth factors, such as epidermal growth factor (EGF) and IGF activated AKT1 and decreased SIRT6 abundance in a time-dependent manner (Figure 5). Furthermore, only the expression of constitutively active, but not the dominant negative, kinase-deficient AKT1 decreased the abundance of Flag-tagged SIRT6 in HEK293T cells (Figure 6). Thus these results suggest an inverse correlation between AKT activation and SIRT6 abundance and that the kinase activity of AKT1 is required for SIRT6 degradation.



**Figure 2a:** Western blotting for SIRT6 and AKT1 against tubulin (loading control) in lysates from MCF-7 cells transfected with one of two siRNAs against AKT1

**Figure 2B:** Western blotting for SIRT6 and AKT2 against tubulin (loading control) in lysates from MCF-7 cells transfected with one of two siRNAs against AKT2.



**Figure 2C:** Western blotting for SIRT6, AKT1 and AKT2 against tubulin (loading control) in lysates from MDA-MB-231 cells transfected with siRNAs against AKT1 and AKT2.

Figure 2: AKT activation promotes SIRT6 degradation.





Figure 3A: Western blotting for SIRT6 or HA in lysates from MDA-MB-231 cells transfected with 2 or 6  $\mu$ g of HA-tagged, constitutively active AKT1 (HA-myr-AKT1) or a control vector (–).

**Figure 3B:** Western blotting for the Flag and the HA tag in lysates from HEK293T cells 72 hours after transfection with HA-tagged constitutively active AKT1 (HA-myr-AKT1) along with Flag-tagged SIRT6.



**Figure 3C:** Western blotting for the Flag and the HA tag in lysates from HEK293T cells 72 hours after transfection with HA-tagged constitutively active AKT3 (HA-myr-AKT3) along with Flag-tagged SIRT6.

Figure 3: AKT1 but not AKT2 and AKT3 degrades SIRT6.



Figure 4: Inhibition of AKT with an inhibitor rescues SIRT6 levels.

Western blotting for SIRT6 or phosphorylated AKT (pAKT-Ser<sup>473</sup>) in lysates from MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, HBL100 and Hs578T cells treated with 2 μM MK2206.



Figure 4: Inhibition of AKT with an inhibitor rescues SIRT6 levels.

Western blotting for SIRT6 or phosphorylated AKT (pAKT-Ser<sup>473</sup>) in lysates from MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, HBL100 and Hs578T cells treated with 2 µM MK2206.



Figure 5: Activation of AKT with growth factors results in SIRT6 degradation.

Western blotting for SIRT6 or phosphorylated AKT (pAKT-Ser<sup>473</sup>) in lysates from MCF-7, MDA-MB-231 and Hs578T cells treated with IGF (50 ng/ml) for the indicated time.





Western blotting in lysates from HEK293T cells transfected with HA-tagged dominant negative AKT1 (DN-HA-AKT1) or constitutively active AKT1 (HA-myr-AKT1; "CA") and Flag-tagged, wild type (WT) SIRT6.

### Inverse correlation between AKT activation and SIRT6 levels in human breast cancers

To further study the observed inverse correlation between AKT activation and SIRT6 abundance, we stained for SIRT6 and AKT phosphorylated at Ser<sup>473</sup> in a panel of

breast cancer cell lines (Figure 7a) and 312 patient breast tumor tissue specimens (126 paraffin-embedded samples and 186 samples from tissue microarray) (Figure 7b & Table 2). In concert with the cell line data, we observed a negative correlation between SIRT6 levels and that of phospho-AKT-Ser<sup>473</sup> in human breast cancers.



Figure 7A: Western blotting for SIRT6 and phosphorylated AKT in lysates from a panel of breast cancer cell lines.

Figure 7B: Immunohistochemical analysis of the abundance of phosphorylated AKT (Ser473) and SIRT6 in tumor sections from two different breast cancer patients (cases 1 and 2). Scale bars,  $25 \ \mu m$ .

Figure 7: Inverse correlation between AKT activation and SIRT6 levels in Breast Cancers.

### AKT1 promotes SIRT6 degradation in a proteosome dependent manner

To determine whether AKT1-mediated SIRT6 suppression was because of changes in protein stability, we measured the half-life of a Flag-tagged SIRT6 in HEK293T cells that over expressed hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged, constitutively active AKT1. The half-life of SIRT6 was shorter in the presence of active AKT1 than it was in the presence of the vector (Figure 8a), prompting us to examine whether this decrease was the result of 26S proteasome-mediated

degradation. Pretreating HEK293T cells with the proteasome inhibitor MG-132 or the AKT inhibitor MK2206 rescued AKT1-induced suppression of SIRT6 abundance (Figure 8b). Additionally, overexpression of AKT1 enhanced the ubiquitination of SIRT6 in the presence of MG-132, which was inhibited by either MK2206 or wortmannin, a PI3K inhibitor (Figure 8c). Together, these results suggest that SIRT6 protein abundance is suppressed in a proteasomedependent manner, and this is dependent on the kinase activity of AKT1 Figure 7a.



Figure 8A: Western blotting in lysates from HEK293T cells transfected with Flag-tagged SIRT6 and either vector or HA-AKT1 in the presence of cycloheximide (CHX) for up to 8 hours. Short Exp- shorter exposure time.



Figure 8B: Western blotting in lysates from HEK293T cells transfected with constitutively active AKT1 or Flag-tagged SIRT6 and treated with either MG-132 or MK2206 (AKTi).



Figure 8C: Western blotting (WB) for ubiquitin and SIRT6 after immunoprecipitation (IP) for SIRT6 in lysates from HEK293T cells transfected with HA-myr-AKT1 then treated with either MK2206 or PI3K inhibitor Wortmannin for 1 hour and MG-132 for 7 hours.

Figure 8: AKT1 promotes SIRT6 degradation in a proteosome dependent manner.

Table 2: Correlation between phospho-AKT Ser<sup>473</sup> and SIRT6 in breast cancer.

	SIRT6		
Phospho-AKT Ser473	Low	High	Total
	51	164	215
	35	62	97
	86	226	312

The correlation was studied in an array of 186 human breast cancers and 126 formalin fixed and paraffin-embedded breast carcinoma patient samples, analyzed using  $\chi^2$  test (P = 0.024).

# **Chapter 4**

## Akt1 Interacts with and Phosphorylates SIRT6



17

### Akt1 Interacts with and Phosphorylates SIRT6

#### AKT1 interacts with SIRT6

To explore the mechanism of how AKT1 mediates the suppression of SIRT6, we first characterized the interaction



**Figure 9A:** Immunoprecipitation (IP) for SIRT6 followed by immunoblotting in lysates from MCF-7 cells against an IgG (immunoglobulin G) control.

between the two proteins. Both endogenous SIRT6 (Figure 9a) and exogenous Flag-tagged SIRT6 (Figure 9b) physically associated with AKT1 in an immuno precipitation assay. In addition, endogenous AKT1 interacted with endogenous SIRT6, as shown by reciprocal immuno precipitation (Figure 9c).



**Figure 9B:** Lysates of HEK293T cells that were transfected with Flagtagged SIRT6 and HA tagged AKT1 were immunoprecipitated with a Flag antibody and immunoblotted for SIRT6 and AKT1.



Figure 9C: Immunoprecipitation (IP) for AKT1 followed by immunoblotting in lysates from MCF-7 cells against an IgG (immunoglobulin G) control.

Figure 9: AKT1 interacts with SIRT6.

#### AKT1 phosphorylates SIRT6 on Ser<sup>338</sup>

In order to investigate if AKT1 phosphorylates SIRT6, we performed an *in vitro* kinase assay, which showed that fulllength recombinant SIRT6 could be directly phosphorylated by recombinant, functionally active AKT1 (Figure 10). To further identify the AKT1-mediated phosphorylation sites on SIRT6, we isolated SIRT6 from cells treated with EGF or IGF in the presence of MG-132 and analyzed it by mass spectrometry. Three phosphorylation sites were identified on SIRT6: Ser<sup>303</sup>, Ser<sup>330</sup>, and Ser<sup>338</sup> (Figures 11a-11c). To determine which site (or sites) is phosphorylated by AKT1, we mutated each one to an alanine residue and subjected all three mutants to *in vitro* kinase assays. Of these three mutants, phosphorylation was abolished in S338A (Figure 12), suggesting that AKT1 specifically phosphorylates SIRT6 at this position. To validate whether this site is phosphorylated in cells, we used a commercially available antibody that recognizes SIRT6

phosphorylated at Ser<sup>338</sup> and, thus, detected Flag-tagged wild-type but not the nonphosphorylatable S338A mutant SIRT6 in MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 13a). Moreover, in serum-starved MDA-MB-231 cells treated with IGF-1 for 1 hour in the presence of the protease inhibitor MG-132 to stabilize protein abundance, we observed an increase in SIRT6 phosphorylation at Ser338 (Figure 13b). A search of

the National Center for Biotechnology Information database using the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) revealed that Ser<sup>338</sup> of SIRT6 is highly conserved among mammals (Figure 14). It should be noted that Ser<sup>338</sup> residue was also identified recently by another independent group [127]. Together, these results support that Ser<sup>338</sup> of SIRT6 is an AKT1 phosphorylation site.



Figure 10: AKT1 phosphorylates SIRT6.

In vitro kinase assay with recombinant, active AKT1 and recombinant GST-tagged, full- length WT SIRT6.



Figure 11: Three phosphorylation sites identified on SIRT6.

Mass spectrometry analysis of lysates from HeLa cells that had been serum-starved overnight, stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 30 min, and subjected to immunoprecipitation with a SIRT6 antibody identified three phosphorylation sites on SIRT6. A. Ser303, B. Ser330, C. Ser338.





In vitro kinase assay with recombinant, active AKT1 and either recombinant GST-tagged, full-length WT or mutant SIRT6. pSIRT6: phosphorylated SIRT6; GSK3: control AKT substrate.



**Figure 13A:** Immunoblot for phosphorylated SIRT6-Ser338 (pSIRT6-Ser<sup>338</sup>) in MDA-MB-231 cells that stably express Flag-tagged WT or mutant (S338A) SIRT6, demonstrating specificity of the antibody.



**Figure 13B:** Western blots for phosphorylated SIRT6 or AKT in lysates from MDA-MB-231 cells serum-starved overnight and then treated with IGF-1 in the presence of MG-132.



AKT	Phosphorylation	Moti	f: RXRXXS	
	Human:	330	SPKRERPTSPAP 34	1
	Mouse:	309	VSYKSKPNSPIL 32	0
	Rat:	306	-SYKPKPDSPVP 31	6
	Cow:	334	SPKRERPDSPSP 34	5
	Boar:	334	SPKREQLDSPAP 34	5

Figure 14: AKT1 phosphorylation site on SIRT6 is conserved.

Sequence alignment of the AKT1 phosphorylation motif of SIRT6 from various species.

## Chapter 5 MDM2 is required for AKT1-mediated SIRT6 degradation

### MDM2 is required for AKT1-mediated SIRT6 degradation

### MDM2 overexpression leads to SIRT6 degradation

MDM2 is the well-characterized oncogenic E3 ligase in the PI3K-AKT pathway and is phosphorylated and activated by AKT [128,129]. Because AKT1 suppresses SIRT6 protein abundance by decreasing its stability, we investigated whether MDM2 is involved in this process.

First, we found that overexpression of wild-type MDM2, but not the MDM2- 9 mutant, which lacks its E3 ligase domain [130], reduced endogenous SIRT6 abundance in HEK293T cells (Figure 15a). In MCF-7 cells, the abundance of SIRT6 increased when MDM2 was knocked down by siRNA (Figure 15b). In addition, when ubiquitin was over expressed concomitantly with MDM2 in HEK293T cells in the presence of MG-132, we observed a polyubiquitination pattern of SIRT6 (Figure 16), suggesting that SIRT6 may be polyubiquitinated for subsequent proteasome degradation.





Figure 15 A: Western blotting in lysates from HEK293T cells transfected with 5 or 10  $\mu$ g of HA-tagged MDM2-WT and MDM2- 9 or a control vector.

**Figure 15B:** Western blotting in lysates from MCF-7 cells transfected with one of two siRNAs against MDM2 or a control siRNA for 72 hours.

Figure 15: MDM2 promotes SIRT6 degradation.





Immunoprecipitation (IP) for SIRT6 followed by immunoblotting for ubiquitin (Ub) in Iysates from HEK293T cells transfected with the indicated plasmids in the presence of MG-132 (10 µM for 7 hours).

### MDM2 interacts with SIRT6 and subjects it to proteosome-mediated degradation

Immunoprecipitation showed that MDM2 interacted with endogenous SIRT6 in MCF-7 cells (Figure 17a) and with exogenous Flag-SIRT6 in HEK293T cells (Figure 17b). We then analyzed the half-life of SIRT6 by using the protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide. Similar to the observations of SIRT6 abundance in HEK293T cells over expressing a constitutively active AKT1 in the presence of MG-132 (Figure 8b), exogenous SIRT6 abundance decreased by 50% in the presence of MDM2 after 4 hours in the presence of cycloheximide, whereas MG-132 prevented the degradation of SIRT6 even after 8 hours (Figure 18). Furthermore, SIRT6 could no longer be suppressed by IGF stimulation when MDM2 is knocked down by siRNA in MCF-7 cells (Figure 19). These results suggest that MDM2 degrades SIRT6 in a proteasome dependent manner and is required for AKT1-mediated SIRT6 degradation.



**Figure 17 A:** Immunoprecipitation for MDM2 followed by immunoblotting for SIRT6 and MDM2 in lysates from MCF-7 cells. Short Exp, shorter exposure time.



**Figure 17B:** Immunoprecipitation for Flag followed by immunoblotting (WB) in Iysates from HEK293T cells transfected with HA-tagged WT MDM2 (MDM2-WT) and Flag-tagged WT SIRT6 (Flag-SIRT6).



Figure 18: MDM2 degrades SIRT6 in a proteosome dependent manner.

Western blotting in lysates from HEK293T cells transfected with WT MDM2 (MDM2-WT) and Flag-tagged SIRT6 with or without MG-132, in the presence of cycloheximide (CHX) for up to 8 hours.



Figure 19: MDM2 is required for AKT mediated SIRT6 degradation.

Western blotting in lysates from MCF-7 cells transfected with an siRNA against MDM2 or a control siRNA for 48 hours, serum-starved for 16 hours, and then cultured with or without IGF (50 ng/ml) for 1 hour.

Chapter 6 Phosphorylation of SIRT6 by AKT1 facilitates MDM2-mediated degradation

### Phosphorylation of SIRT6 by AKT1 facilitates MDM2-mediated degradation

### Phosphorylation of SIRT6 is a prerequisite for MDM2-mediated degradation

To further show that the phosphorylation of SIRT6 by AKT1 alters its stability, we compared the stability of two SIRT6 mutant proteins: SIRT6-S338A, a nonphosphorylatable mutant, and SIRT6-S338D, a phosphorylation-mimic mutant. Under cycloheximide treatment in MCF-7 cells, the abundance of SIRT6-S338D decreased after 2 hours, whereas SIRT6-S338A abundance remained unsubstantially changed for at least up to 8 hours (Figure 20a). Consistently, the SIRT6-S338D mutant interacted more strongly with MDM2 in MCF-7 cells than did SIRT6-

S338A (Figure 20b). These results suggest that AKT1induced phosphorylation of SIRT6 may recruit MDM2 and ubiguitinate SIRT6 to promote its subsequent degradation. To determine whether this interaction indeed promoted SIRT6 degradation, the SIRT6-S338A or SIRT6-S338D mutant was cotransfected with MDM2 into HEK293T cells. As expected, the abundance of SIRT6-S338D, but not SIRT6-S338A, was decreased in the presence of MDM2 (Figure 20c). Compared with wild-type SIRT6. the SIRT6-S338D mutant was heavily ubiquitinated and the SIRT6-S338A mutant was the least ubiquitinated in the presence of MDM2 and MG-132 in MCF-7 cells (Figure 20d). Together, these data indicate that MDM2 is the E3 ligase that mediates SIRT6 degradation and that the interaction between MDM2 and SIRT6 is dependent on AKT1-mediated SIRT6 phosphorylation on Ser<sup>338</sup>.



Figure 20A: SIRT6-S338A mutant is stable than the SIRT6-S338D mutant Western blotting in lysates from MCF-7 cells that stably express Flag-tagged SIRT6-S338A (Flag-SIRT6-A) or SIRT6-S338D (Flag-SIRT6-D) in the presence of cycloheximide (CHX) for up to 8 hours.



Figure 20B: SIRT6-S338D mutant interacts strongly with MDM2 Immunoprecipitation (IP) with a Flag antibody followed by immunoblotting (WB) in lysates from MCF-7 cells that stably express Flag-tagged, WT SIRT6 (WT), SIRT6-S338A (A), or SIRT6-S338D (D) treated with MG-132 for 7 hours.



Figure 20C: SIRT6-S338D but not SIRT6-S338A mutant is degraded by MDM2 .

Western blotting in lysates from HEK293T cells transfected with Flag-tagged SIRT6-S338A (Flag-SIRT6-S338A) or Flag-tagged SIRT6-S338D (Flag-SIRT6-S338D) and WT MDM2, harvested 72 hours after transfection.



**Figure 20D:** SIRT6-S338D mutant is highly ubiquitinated Immunoprecipitation with a Flag antibody followed by immunoblotting for ubiquitin in lysates from HEK293T cells transfected with either Flag-tagged WT SIRT6 (Flag-SIRT6-WT) or mutant SIRT6 (S338A or S338D) and WT MDM2 and ubiquitin (Ub) and treated with MG-132 for 7 hours.

Figure 20: Phosphorylation of SIRT6 by AKT1 facilitates MDM2-mediated ubiquitination and degradation.

Figure 20 Phosphorylation of SIRT6 by AKT1 facilitates MDM2-mediated ubiquitination and degradation A. SIRT6-S338A mutant is stable than the SIRT6-S338D mutant Western blotting in lysates from MCF-7 cells that

stably express Flag-tagged SIRT6-S338A (Flag-SIRT6-A) or SIRT6-S338D (Flag-SIRT6-D) in the presence of cycloheximide (CHX) for up to 8 hours.

## Chapter 7 Nonphosphorylatable SIRT6 inhibits breast cancer tumorigenesis

29

### Nonphosphorylatable SIRT6 inhibits breast cancer tumorigenesis

### Nonphosphorylatable SIRT6 inhibits breast cancer tumorigenesis

Because the nonphosphorylatable SIRT6 mutant had enhanced stability and the phosphorylation-mimic mutant had less stability compared to the wild-type SIRT6, we examined the function of SIRT6-WT, SIRT6-S338A, and SIRT6-S338D in cellular proliferation and breast cancer tumorigenesis. Knockdown of endogenous SIRT6 by short hairpin RNA (shRNA) increased the proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells in culture, as determined by a cell counting assay (Figure 21a), and enhanced the growth of MDA-MB-231 xenografts in the mammary fat pads of nude mice (Figure 21b). We further examined the function of the phosphorylation of SIRT6 at Ser338 in cell proliferation and tumorigenesis by expressing wild-type or either mutant SIRT6 in MDA-MB-231 cells. Expression of the nonphosphorylatable SIRT6-S338A mutant suppressed cell proliferation (Figure 21c) and colony formation on soft agar (Figure 21d) more than the wild-type SIRT6 or the phosphorylation-mimic SIRT6-S338D mutant compared to the vector control.

To further test the tumor-suppressive activity of SIRT6 mutants *in vivo*, we injected MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing the control vector, wild-type SIRT6, or either mutant SIRT6 into the mammary fat pads of nude mice and monitored tumor development. We found that tumor volume in mice injected with MDA-MB-231 cells stably expressing wild-type SIRT6 was smaller than those injected with cells expressing the control vector. The growth of tumors expressing the SIRT6-S338A mutant was significantly

decreased compared with those expressing the control vector or the phosphorylation-mimic SIRT6-S338D mutant (Figure 21e).

To further investigate whether the expression of SIRT6 phospho-mutants affects the endogenous expression of known SIRT6 target genes that are involved in promoting tumorigenesis, we performed a quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis of MDA-MB-231 cells expressing vector control. SIRT6-WT. SIRT6-S338A, or SIRT6-S338D. We found that the SIRT6-S338A mutant suppressed the mRNA abundance of a panel of target genes more significantly (AKT1, AKT3, IGF-1R, PDK1, MTOR, and LDHA) than others (GSK3B and PFKM), whereas the SIRT6-S338D mutant had no inhibitory effect on the target genes compared to SIRT6-WT (Figure 22a). SIRT6-deficient mice exhibit increased phosphorylation of AKT compared with controls and subsequently have severe hypoglycemia because of enhanced basal and insulinstimulated glucose uptake [131]. On the other hand, SIRT6deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) showed similar amounts of phosphorylated AKT to wild-type MEFs [132]. Thus, we investigated the phosphorylation of AKT in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line that expressed vector, SIRT6-WT, A-SIRT6, or D-SIRT6. Clones were chosen in such a way that the expression of wild-type and mutant SIRT6 were similar, which would make the phosphorylation of AKT comparable. In our system, although there was a slight decrease in the abundance of phosphorylated AKT in the presence of wild-type SIRT6 as previously reported [131], there was no significant difference between the mutants and the wild-type SIRT6 (Figure 22b), suggesting that the Ser<sup>338</sup> mutation on SIRT6 might not contribute to SIRT6-mediated suppression of AKT activation.



**Figure 21A:** Proliferation and immunoblot of MDA-MB-231 cells transfected with either shRNA against luciferase or one of two shRNAs against SIRT6. Data are means ± SE from three experiments.



Figure 21B: Growth of mammary fat pad xenografts derived from MDA-MB-231 cells transfected with either luciferase shRNA or one of two SIRT6 shRNAs. Data are means ± SE from five mice per group.



Figure 21C: Proliferation and immunoblot of MDA-MB-231 cells infected with lentiviral vector, WT SIRT6 (SIRT6-WT), SIRT6-S338A, or SIRT6-S338D. Data are means ± SE from three experiments.



Figure 21D: Soft agar colony formation by MDA-MB-231 cells infected with lentiviral vector, SIRT6-WT, SIRT6-S338A (SIRT6-A), or SIRT6-S338D (SIRT6-D).



Figure 21E: Tumor growth of orthotopically transplanted MDA-MB-231 cells infected with lentiviral vector, SIRT6-WT, SIRT6-S338A, or SIRT6-S338D. Data are means ± SE from five mice per group.



Figure 22A: Quantitative RT-PCR analysis cDNA was isolated from MDA-MB-231 cells infected with lentivirus expressing vector, wild-type (WT) SIRT6, or mutant [S338A (A) or S338D (D)] SIRT6. Data are means ± S.E. from 3 experiments.



**Figure 22B:** Western blotting for Flag and phosphorylated AKT in MDA-MB-231 cells infected with lentivirus expressing vector, Flag-tagged wild-type SIRT6 (SIRT6-WT), or Flag-tagged SIRT6 mutant [S338A (Flag-SIRT6-A) or S338D (Flag SIRT6-D)]. Blot is representative; data are means ± S.E. from 3 experiments.

![](_page_39_Figure_2.jpeg)

![](_page_39_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 23A: Survival curves of patients with breast tumors that have high or low abundance of total or phosphorylated SIRT6.

![](_page_39_Figure_5.jpeg)

**Figure 23B:** Immunohistochemistry for SIRT6 and phosphorylated SIRT6 in representative tumor tissues from patients in (F). +++, high expression; – & +, low or no expression. Scale bars, 25 µm.

![](_page_39_Figure_7.jpeg)

### High SIRT6 levels correlate with better prognosis in breast cancer patients

To determine the correlation between SIRT6 phosphorylation and breast cancer patient survival or disease progression, Immunohistochemical staining was performed for total and phosphorylated SIRT6 in biopsy tissues from 126 breast cancer patients. Patients whose tumors had high SIRT6 abundance had better overall survival than those whose tumors had low SIRT6 abundance. However, patients whose tumors had high abundance of phosphorylated SIRT6 had poorer overall survival than those whose tumors had low abundance of phosphorylated SIRT6 (Figure 23a & 23b). These results suggest that SIRT6 and its phosphorylation status may have the potential to be predictive of breast cancer patient survival.

## **Chapter 8**

Loss of SIRT6 results in trastuzumab resistance in HER2 over expressing breast cancer cells.

# Loss of SIRT6 results in trastuzumab resistance in HER2 over expressing breast cancer cells.

### Loss of SIRT6 results in trastuzumab resistance in HER2 over expressing breast cancer cells

Trastuzumab is a standard treatment for patients with HER2-positive breast cancer. However, intrinsic or acquired resistance to this treatment is observed [133,134]. Increased or constitutive activation of AKT appears to be a key factor in trastuzumab resistance [135-138]. Because we found that AKT1 decreased SIRT6 stability through phosphorylation and subsequent proteasome-dependent degradation, we speculated that SIRT6 might also play a role in trastuzumab resistance. Indeed, SIRT6 abundance was lower in two trastuzumab-resistant, HER2-positive breast cancer cell lines (BT474-TtzmR and SKBR3-TtzmR) compared with trastuzumab-sensitive parental lines (BT474-P and SKBR3-P) (Figure 24a). The abundance of SIRT6 increased after the addition of trastuzumab in BT474-P, but not in BT474-TtzmR, cells (Figure 24b). In

the BT474-P cells. 24-hour treatment with trastuzumab inhibited the phosphorylation of AKT at Ser<sup>473</sup>, whereas in the BT474-TtzmR cells, there was residual phosphorylation of AKT even after 48 hours of trastuzumab treatment. This persistent activation of AKT appeared to attenuate the increase in SIRT6 protein abundance seen in the parental cells, suggesting that the induction of SIRT6 contributes to the therapeutic effect of trastuzumab. To further validate the above findings, we knocked down SIRT6 in BT474-P cells and cultured them in trastuzumab for 4 days. Loss of SIRT6 in trastuzumab-sensitive BT474-P cells decreased cell sensitivity to trastuzumab to a similar sensitivity seen in BT474-TtzmR cells as measured by relative metabolic activity in an MTT assay (Figure 24c). Expression of the nonphosphorylatable SIRT6-S338A mutant considerably resensitized BT474-TtzmR cells to trastuzumab compared with expression of either wild-type SIRT6 or the phosphorylation-mimic SIRT6-S338D mutant (Figure 24c). These data suggest a mechanism by which trastuzumab inhibits breast cancer cell proliferation through the induction of SIRT6 and that loss of SIRT6 mediated by AKT1 and MDM2 contributes to trastuzumab resistance.

![](_page_42_Figure_4.jpeg)

Figure 24A: Western blotting in cell lysates from BT474 parental (BT474-P), BT474 trastuzumab resistant (BT474-TtzmR), SKBR3 parental (SKBR3-P), and SKBR3-trastuzumab– resistant (SKBR3-TtzmR) cells. Blots are representative of three experiments.

![](_page_42_Figure_6.jpeg)

**Figure 24B:** Western blots for SIRT6 and phosphorylated AKT at Ser<sup>473</sup>(pAKT-Ser<sup>473</sup>) in BT474-PandBT474-TtzmRcells treated with trastuzumab for up to 48 hours. Blot is representative, and data in graph are means ± SE abundance of SIRT6 normalized to tubulin from three independent experiments.

![](_page_43_Figure_0.jpeg)

**Figure 24C:** Cell viability, assessed by relative proliferation by an MTT [3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)- 2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide] assay, in BT474-TtzmR cells that stably expressed SIRT6-WT, SIRT6-S338A, or SIRT6-S338D, and in BT474-P cells transfected with luciferase or SIRT6 shRNA, each treated with trastuzumab (10  $\mu$ g/ml) for 4 days. Blots show representative transfection or knockdown, respectively. Data are means ± SE from three independent experiments. \*P < 0.0001, Student's t test.

Figure 24: Loss of SIRT6 results in Trastuzumab resistance.

# **Chapter 9** Summary and Discussion

### **Summary and Discussion**

### Summary

Here, we have identified two post translational modifications on SIRT6 that leads to its degradation via the proteosome pathway. The degradation of SIRT6 in turn results in breast cancer tumorigenesis and resistance to trastuzumab in HER2 over expressing breast cancers. In our proposed model, activated AKT1 interacts with SIRT6 and phosphorylates SIRT6 on Ser<sup>338</sup>. Phosphorylation at this site promotes the interaction between SIRT6 and the E3 ligase MDM2, followed by ubiquitination and degradation of SIRT6 in a proteosome dependent manner. Loss of SIRT6 in breast cancer, leads to enhanced cell proliferation in vitro and aggressive breast tumor growth in vivo in an orthotropic mouse model, probably through downregulation of genes involved in tumorigenesis. Reconstitution with SIRT6-S338A mutant suppressed breast cancer tumorigenesis effectively than the wild type SIRT6, while the SIRT6-S338D mutant has no tumor suppressive activity at all. Analysis of human breast cancer patient tissues showed that SIRT6 protein expression is indeed down regulated in breast cancer tissues compared to the normal breast tissues and patients with high SIRT6 expression have a better overall survival than patients with low SIRT6. Also, patients with higher levels of phosphorylated SIRT6 have poor survival when compared to those with lower levels. In addition, we also found that SIRT6 protein expression was down regulated in cells that were resistant to trastuzumab when compared to the sensitive parental cells. Knockdown of SIRT6 in the trastuzumab sensitive cells made them resistant to trastuzumab, while reconstituition with the SIRT6-S338A mutant rendered these cells sensitive to trastuzumab to a greater extent that the wild type SIRT6. However, reconstitution with SIRT6-S338D mutant did not resensitize the cells to trastuzumab. Thus this data suggests that both SIRT6 expression and SIRT6 phosphorylation could be used as biomarkers for breast cancer and also for trastuzumab resistance in breast cancer.

#### Discussion

The histone deacetylase SIRT6 regulates a number of functions including aging, inflammation, glucose metabolism, mitochondrial respiration, DNA damage repair etc. These processes either directly or indirectly contribute to tumorigenesis. Although the role of SIRT6 as a tumor suppressor in a number of cancers has started to unfold, there are no clear thoughts on how SIRT6 might be regulated in these cancers. So, we sought out to identify novel regulations of SIRT6 in breast cancers and how these regulations control breast cancer tumorigenesis.

In this study, we propose a model in which the histone deacetylase SIRT6 is phosphorylated and inhibited by the serine/threonine kinase AKT1. Mechanistically, SIRT6 is phosphorylated by AKT1 and targeted for subsequent degradation by the MDM2-dependent proteosome degradation pathway (Figure 25). We have identified Ser<sup>338</sup>

to be the AKT1 phosphorylation site on SIRT6 and this phosphorylation increased the interaction between MDM2 and SIRT6 and hence its degradation. Thus this work has led to the identification of two novel post translational modifications of SIRT6 that affects its protein stability. Independently, the Ser<sup>338</sup> site on SIRT6 was identified by another group [127], which shows that this phosphorylation is highly conserved and it modulates interactions of SIRT6.

Prior to our finding that MDM2 is a novel E3 ligase for SIRT6, Ronnebaum et al. had identified C terminus of Hsc70-interacting protein (CHIP) as an E3 ligase that stabilized SIRT6 through non-canonical ubiquitination [139]. But, they had also observed canonical ubiguitination of SIRT6 even in the absence of CHIP. This is interesting, as it is an indication of a possibility for other E3 ligases like MDM2 to ubiguitinate and degrade SIRT6. Moreover, recently, ubiquitin peptidase or deubiquitinase, USP10 was shown to interact with, deubiquitinate, and stabilize SIRT6 in colon cancer cells [140]. Also, USP10 deubiquitinates and stabilizes p53, which is a well-known substrate that is degraded by MDM2-dependent proteosome pathway. This proposes a similar mechanism wherein SIRT6 is destabilized through ubiguitination by MDM2, which could be reversed by deubiquitination by USP10.

To further delineate the significance of SIRT6 phosphorylation with respect breast to cancer tumorigenesis, we mutated the serine 338 residue to alanine (SIRT6-S338A) and to aspartate (SIRT6-S338D) to generate the nonphosphorylatable and the phoshomimic mutants of SIRT6 respectively. We used various in vitro assays and in vivo experiments in mice to show that the nonphosphorylatable SIRT6-S338A mutant is resistant to MDM2-mediated degradation, is more stable than wildtype SIRT6, and promotes stronger suppression of cell proliferation in vitro and tumor growth in vivo in mice. SIRT6 phosphorylation also affected the transcription of SIRT6 target genes that are involved in promoting tumorigenesis, with some genes affected more significantly than the others. The SIRT6-S338A suppressed transcription greater that the WT-SIRT6, while the SIRT6-S338D mutant had no inhibitory effect.

Our results, together with previously published studies [39,141-144], further strengthen the role of SIRT6 as a tumor suppressor in numerous cancers and how loss of SIRT6 is a critical step for the promotion of tumorigenesis.

Increased AKT activation is also associated with the development of trastuzumab resistance in breast tumors overexpressing HER2 [133,134,145]. Various treatment alternatives and combination therapies have been designed to overcome this issue of resistance, including combining trastuzumab with the SRC inhibitor sarcatinib [146] or an AKT inhibitor [147] and, most recently, trastuzumab-DM1 (T-DM1) was developed by Genentech, in which a cytotoxic agent mertansine is linked to the monoclonal antibody against HER2 [148]. Because, we found that AKT signaling can negatively regulate SIRT6, we looked if SIRT6

downregulation could also be associated with resistance to trastuzumab. As expected, SIRT6 protein levels were lower in trastuzumab-resistant cells than in trastuzumabsensitive cells. When we manipulated SIRT6 abundance in resistance cells, we were able to modulate its sensitivity to trastuzumab. Reconstitution of SIRT6-S338A in the resistant cells rendered the cells sensitive to trastuzumab again to a greater extent compared to the wild type, while the SIRT6-S338D mutant had no effect. Thus these results suggest that by manipulating SIRT6 abundance, we could modulate the sensitivity to trastuzumab and that the loss of SIRT6 might be one of the mechanisms that enable acquired resistance to trastuzumab. This suggests that histochemical analysis of SIRT6 expression in breast cancer patients treated with trastuzumab might be used as a biomarker to determine drug sensitivity in them.

Interestingly, SIRT6 has been shown to activate PARP1 during oxidative stress and thus promotes efficient DNA

repair [51]. PARP is a family of proteins consisting of PARP1 and PARP2, and they recruit other DNA repair proteins to the sites of DNA damage [149]. They play a critical role in repair of DNA through Base Excision Repair (BER). This makes PARP effective targets for anti-cancer therapies and there are a number of PARP1 inhibitors that are currently in clinical trials. We and others have shown that SIRT6 acts as a tumor suppressor in various cancers. But the fact that SIRT6 can activate PARP1, implies the possibility of another role for SIRT6 in tumorigenesis. It would be interesting to investigate if SIRT6 also has a role in tumor progression which might be context dependent.

Also, we have seen that the SIRT6 phosphorylation on Ser338 affects its stability and further analysis would have to be done to see if this phosphorylation has any effect on the deacetylase activity or ADP-ribosyl transferase activity of SIRT6.

![](_page_46_Figure_4.jpeg)

![](_page_46_Figure_5.jpeg)

## **Future Directions**

41

### **Future Directions**

### To study the relation between SIRT6 and trastuzumab resistance

The cell line data showed that SIRT6 protein levels were lower in trastuzumab resistant BT474-TtzmR compared to the sensitive BT474-P cells. Also, reexpression of SIRT6-S338A mutant in the BT474-TtzmR cells overcame the acquired resistance to trastuzumab, more effectively than the SIRT6-WT. We would like to see if these phenomenon exist *in vivo*. To test this, we would perform two independent sets of experiments.

First experiment would be designed to analyze if SIRT6 is lost when the cells become resistant to trastuzumab treatment. Female nude mice would be implanted with 0.72 mg, 60-day release 17β-estradiol pellets before inoculating with the appropriate cell lines. Tumors would be established by injecting BT474-Parental (BT474-P) cells (5 × 106) into the mammary fat pads of mice (20 mice per group). Tumor size would be measured every 3 days. When the tumor volume reaches about 200 mm<sup>3</sup>, the mice would be randomly distributed into two groups. The experimental group would be treated with trastuzumab (10 mg/kg) and the control group with vehicle (IgG) intraperitoneally (i.p.), once a week. Two scenarios can be expected from the experimental group- the tumors that are sensitive to trastuzumab would shrink, the tumors that are resistant would continue growing even under treatment and the tumors which acquire resistance would continue to shrink initially, but then starts to grow in the presence of trastuzumab. Tumors would be harvested at these different stages and would be stained for SIRT6 and phospho SIRT6-Ser<sup>338</sup> expression by immuno histochemistry. These results would indicate if SIRT6 is lost while acquiring resistance to trastuzumab in vivo and if the mechanism for loss of SIRT6 is through phosphorylation mediated degradation.

In the second set of experiments, we would like to see if SIRT6 phosphorylation affects the acquired resistance to trastuzumab. BT474-TtzmR cells which express either WT/S33A/S338D SIRT6 would be injected into the mammary fat pads of nude mice, as mentioned above and after the tumors reach around 200 mm<sup>3</sup> in volume, they would be started under trastuzumab treatment and the tumor volumes would then be monitored.

Based on the cell line data, we would expect the BT474-

TtzmR that express the SIRT6-S33A mutant to be sensitive to trastuzumab and not acquire resistance.

### Analysis of SIRT6 expression in trastuzumab treated patients

Preliminary analysis showed that SIRT6 abundance is reduced in HER2 over expressing breast cancer cells that had acquired resistance to trastuzumab when compared to the parental sensitive cell lines. Also, reconstitution of the nonphosphorylatable SIRT6 mutant in the resistant cells resensitized these cells to trastuzumab again. We would like to further investigate the association between SIRT6 abundance and acquired resistance to trastuzumab in breast cancer patients treated with trastuzumab. Immunohistochemical analysis for SIRT6 and phospho SIRT6-S<sup>338</sup> in the tissues obtained from breast cancer patients at MD Anderson Cancer Center who were treated with trastuzumab would be performed. Tissue specimens from patients who are sensitive, resistant and who were initially sensitive, but acquired resistance to trastuzumab would be analyzed and compared.

### Identification of kinases responsible for phosphorylation of SIRT6 in Ser303 and Ser330

Mass spectrometry analysis had identified two other phosphorylation sites on SIRT6 under growth factor stimulation, Ser<sup>303</sup> and Ser<sup>330</sup>. We would like to identify the kinase(s) that are responsible for phosphorylating SIRT6 on these sites. Preliminary analysis of the amino acid sequence of SIRT6 revealed that these two residues lie within a CDK consensus phosphorylation motif. The CDK consensus sequence for the phosphorylation site in the substrate is [S/T\*]PX[K/R], where S/T\* is the phosphorylated serine or threonine, P is proline, X is any amino acid, K is lysine, and R is arginine(150). We would further confirm which CDK(s) phosphorylates SIRT6 on Ser<sup>303</sup> and (or) Ser<sup>330</sup> by performing *in vitro* kinase assay. The phosphorylation site would then be confirmed by mutational analysis of the serine residue(s) to alanine, followed by kinase assay.

After the successful confirmation of the kinase and the phosphorylation site(s), the next step would be the identification of the functional significance of this phosphorylation on SIRT6. As CDKs plays a critical role in cell cycle regulation, we would like to look at the role of SIRT6 in cell cycle regulation, if any and also the role of this phosphorylation with respect to cell cycle.

## References

![](_page_49_Picture_1.jpeg)

43

#### References

- 1. Shore D, Squire M, Nasmyth NA (1984) Characterization of two genes required for the position-effect control of yeast matingtype genes. EMBO J 3(12): 2817-2823.
- 2. Houtkooper RH, Pirinen E, Auwerx J (2012) Sirtuins as regulators of metabolism and healthspan. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13(4): 225-238.
- 3. Tissenbaum HA, Guarente L (2001) Increased dosage of a sir-2 gene extends lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 410(6825): 227-230.
- 4. Rogina B, Helfand SL (2004) Sir2 mediates longevity in the fly through a pathway related to calorie restriction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(45): 15998-16003.
- 5. Frye RA (2000) Phylogenetic classification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic Sir2-like proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 273(2): 793-798.
- 6. Michan S, Sinclair D (2007) Sirtuins in mammals: insights into their biological function. Biochem J 404(1): 1-13.
- 7. Kaeberlein M, McVey M, Guarente L (1999) The SIR2/3/4 complex and SIR2 alone promote longevity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by two different mechanisms. Genes Dev 13(19): 2570-2580.
- 8. Howitz KT, Bitterman KJ, Cohen HY, Lamming DW, Lavu S et al. (2003) Small molecule activators of sirtuins extend Saccharomyces cerevisiae lifespan. Nature 425(6954): 191-196.
- 9. Wood JG, Rogina B, Lavu S, Howitz K, Helfand SL, et al. (2004) Sirtuin activators mimic caloric restriction and delay ageing in metazoans Nature 430(700): 686-689.
- 10. Osborne TB, Mendel LB, Ferry EL (1917) The effect of retardation of growth upon the breeding period and duration of life of rats. Science 45(1160): 294-295.
- 11. McCay CM, Crowell MF, Maynard LA (1989) Nutrition Metabolism Classic - the Effect of Retarded Growth Upon the Length of Life-Span and Upon the Ultimate Body Size. Nutrition 5(3): 155-171.
- 12. Baur JA, Ungvari Z, Minor RK, Le Couteur DG, de Cabo R (2012) Are sirtuins viable targets for improving healthspan and lifespan? Nat Rev Drug Discov 11(6): 443-461.
- 13. Morris BJ (2013) Seven sirtuins for seven deadly diseases of aging. Free Radic Biol Med 56: 133-171.
- 14. Bosch-Presegué L, Vaguero A (2011) The dual role of sirtuins in cancer. Genes cancer 2: 648-662.
- 15. Chen WY, Wang DH, Yen RC, Luo J, Gu W, et al. (2005) Tumor suppressor HIC1 directly regulates SIRT1 to modulate p53dependent DNA-damage responses. Cell 123(3): 437-448.
- Expression of DBC1 and SIRT1 is associated with poor prognosis for breast carcinoma. Hum Pathol 42(2): 204-213.
- 17. Stünkel W, Peh BK, Tan YC, Nayagam VM, Wang X (2007) Function of the SIRT1 protein deacetylase in cancer. Biotechnol J 2(11): 1360-1368.

- 18. Huffman DM, Grizzle WE, Bamman MM, Kim JS, Eltoum IA, et al. (2007) SIRT1 is significantly elevated in mouse and human prostate cancer. Cancer Res 67(14): 8423-8423.
- 19. Zhao G, Cui J, Zhang JG, Qin Q, Chen Q, et al. (2011) SIRT1 RNAi knockdown induces apoptosis and senescence, inhibits invasion and enhances chemosensitivity in pancreatic cancer cells. Gene Ther 18(9): 920-928.
- 20. Chen J, Zhang B, Wong N, Lo AW, To KF, et al. (2011) Sirtuin 1 Is Upregulated in a Subset of Hepatocellular Carcinomas where It Is Essential for Telomere Maintenance and Tumor Cell Growth. Cancer Res 71(12): 4138-4149.
- 21. Choi HN, Bae JS, Jamiyandorj U, Noh SJ, Park HS, et al. (2011) Expression and role of SIRT1 in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncol Rep 26(2): 503-510.
- 22. Bradbury CA, Khanim FL, Hayden R, Bunce CM, et al. White DA (2005) Histone deacetylases in acute myeloid leukaemia show a distinctive pattern of expression that changes selectively in response to deacetylase inhibitors. Leukemia 19(10): 1751-1759.
- 23. Hida Y, Kubo Y, Murao K, Arase S (2007) Arase, Strong expression of a longevity-related protein, SIRT1, in Bowen's disease. Arch Dermatol Res 299(2): 103-106.
- 24. Benavente CA, Schnell SA, Jacobson EL (2012) Effects of Niacin Restriction on Sirtuin and PARP Responses to Photodamage in Human Skin. PLoS One 7(7): e42276.
- 25. Kozako T, Aikawa A, Shoji T, Fujimoto T, Yoshimitsu M, et al. (2012) High expression of the longevity gene product SIRT1 and apoptosis induction by sirtinol in adult T-cell leukemia cells. Int J Cancer 131(9): 2044-2055.
- 26. Hiratsuka M, Inoue T, Toda T, Kimura N, Shirayoshi Y, et al. (2003) Proteomics-based identification of differentially expressed genes in human gliomas: down-regulation of SIRT2 gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 309(3): 558-566.
- 27. Peters CJ, Rees JR, Hardwick RH, Hardwick JS, Vowler SL (2010) A 4-Gene Signature Predicts Survival of Patients With Resected Adenocarcinoma of the Esophagus, Junction, and Gastric Cardia. Gastroenterology 139(6): 1995-2004.
- 28. Kim HS, Vassilopoulos A, Wang RH, Lahusen T, Xiao Z, et al. (2011) SIRT2 Maintains Genome Integrity and Suppresses Tumorigenesis through Regulating APC/C Activity. Cancer Cell 20(4): 487-499.
- 29. Lennerz V, Fatho M, Gentilini C, Frye RA, Lifke A, et al. (2005) The response of autologous T cells to a human melanoma is dominated by mutated neoantigens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(44): 16013-16018.
- 30. Das C, Lucia MS, Hansen KC, Tyler JK (2009) CBP/p300mediated acetylation of histone H3 on lysine 56. Nature 459(7243): 113-117.
- 16. Lee H, Kim KR, Noh SJ, Park HS, Kwon KS, et al. (2011) 31. Dan L, Klimenkova O, Klimiankou M, Klusman JH, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, et al. (2012) The role of sirtuin 2 activation by nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase in the aberrant proliferation and survival of myeloid leukemia cells. Haematologica 97(4): 551-559.
  - Bell EL, Guarente L (2011) The SirT3 Divining Rod Points to 32. Oxidative Stress. Mol Cell 42(5): 561-568.

- and cancer: Tumor promoter or suppressor? Biochim Biophys Acta 1816(1): 80-88.
- 34. Ashraf N, Zino S, Macintyre A, Kingsmore D, Payne AP, et al. (2006) Altered sirtuin expression is associated with nodepositive breast cancer. Br J Cancer 95(8): 1056-1061.
- 35. Zhang YY. Zhou LM (2012) Sirt3 inhibits hepatocellular carcinoma cell growth through reducing Mdm2-mediated p53 degradation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 423(1): 26-31.
- 36. Finley LW, Carracedo A, Lee J, Souza A, Egia A (2011) SIRT3 opposes reprogramming of cancer cell metabolism through HIF1alpha destabilization. Cancer Cell 19(3): 416-428.
- 37. Zhang YY. Zhou LM (2012) Sirt3 inhibits hepatocellular carcinoma cell growth through reducing Mdm2-mediated p53 degradation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 423(1): 26-31.
- 38. Kamaraian P. Alhazzazi TY. Danciu T. D'silva NJ. Verdin E. et al. (2012) Kapila, Receptor-interacting protein (RIP) and Sirtuin-3 (SIRT3) are on opposite sides of anoikis and tumorigenesis. Cancer 118(23): 5800-5810.
- 39. Sebastián C, Zwaans BM, Silberman DM, Gymrek M, Goren A (2012) The Histone Deacetylase SIRT6 Is a Tumor Suppressor that Controls Cancer Metabolism. Cell 151(6): 1185-1199.
- 40. Van Meter M. Mao Z. Gorbunova V. Seluanov A (2011) SIRT6 overexpression induces massive apoptosis in cancer cells but not in normal cells. Cell cycle 10(18): 3153-3158.
- 41. Martínez-Redondo P, Santos-Barriopedro I, Vaguero A (2012) A big step for SIRT7, one giant leap for Sirtuins... in cancer. Cancer Cell 21(6): 719-721.
- 42. Barber MF, Michishita-Kioi E, Xi Y, Tasselli L, Kioi M, et al. (2012) SIRT7 links H3K18 deacetylation to maintenance of oncogenic transformation. Nature 487(7405): 114-118.
- 43. Mahlknecht U, Ho AD, Voelter-Mahlknecht S (2006) Chromosomal organization and fluorescence in situ hybridization of the human Sirtuin 6 gene. Int J Oncol 28(2): 447-456.
- 44. Mostoslavsky R, Chua KF, Lombard DB, Pang WW, Fischer MR, et al. (2006) Genomic instability and aging-like phenotype in the absence of mammalian SIRT6. Cell 124(2): 315-329.
- 45. Liszt G, Ford E, Kurtev M, Guarente L (2005) Mouse Sir2 homolog SIRT6 is a nuclear ADP-ribosyltransferase. J biol chem 280(22): 21313-21320.
- 46. Tennen RI, Berber E, Chua KF (2010) Functional dissection of SIRT6: identification of domains that regulate histone deacetylase activity and chromatin localization. Mech Ageing Dev 131(3): 185-192.
- 47. Tennen RI, Chua KF (2011) Chromatin regulation and genome maintenance by mammalian SIRT6. Trends Biochem Sci 36(1): 39-46.
- 48. Ardestani PM, Liang F (2012) Sub-cellular localization, expression and functions of Sirt6 during the cell cycle in HeLa cells. Nucleus 3(5): 442-451.
- 49. Dephoure N, Zhou C, Villén J, Beausoleil SA, Bakalarski CE (2008) A quantitative atlas of mitotic phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(31): 10762-10767.
- 50. Carafa V, Miceli M, Altucci L, Nebbioso A (2013) Histone deacetylase inhibitors: a patent review (2009 - 2011). Expert opinion on therapeutic patents 23(1): 1-17.

- 33. Alhazzazi TY, Kamaraian P, Verdin E, Kapila YL (2011) SIRT3 51, Mao Z, Hine C, Tian X, Van Meter M, Au M, et al. (2011) SIRT6 promotes DNA repair under stress by activating PARP1. Science 332(6036): 1443-1446.
  - 52. Jiang H, Khan S, Wang Y, Charron G, He B, et al. (2013) SIRT6 regulates TNF-alpha secretion through hydrolysis of long-chain fatty acyl lysine. Nature 496(7443): 110-113.
  - Kim HS, Xiao C, Wang RH, Lahusen T, Xu X, et al. (2010) 53. Hepatic- specific disruption of SIRT6 in mice results in fatty liver formation due to enhanced glycolysis and triglyceride synthesis. Cell metab 12(3): 224-236.
  - 54. Kanfi Y, Shalman R, Peshti V, Pilosof SN, Gozlan YM, et al. (2008) Regulation of SIRT6 protein levels by nutrient availability. Febs Lett 582(5): 543-548.
  - 55. Dávalos A, Goedeke L, Smibert P, Ramírez CM, Warrier NP (2011) miR-33a/b contribute to the regulation of fatty acid metabolism and insulin signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(22): 9232-9237.
  - 56. Elhanati S, Kanfi Y, Varvak A, Roichman A, Carmel-Gross I (2013) Multiple regulatory layers of SREBP1/2 by SIRT6. Cell rep 4(5): 905-912.
  - 57. Kanfi Y, Shalman R, Peshti V, Pilosof SN, Gozlan YM, et al. (2008) Regulation of SIRT6 protein levels by nutrient availability. Febs Lett 582(5): 543-548.
  - 58. Kanfi Y, Naiman S, Amir G, Peshti V, Zinman G, et al. (2012) The sirtuin SIRT6 regulates lifespan in male mice. Nature 483(7388): 218-221.
  - 59. Kawahara TL, Michishita E, Adler AS, Damian M, Berber E, et al. (2009) SIRT6 Links Histone H3 Lysine 9 Deacetylation to NF-kappa B-Dependent Gene Expression and Organismal Life Span. Cell 136(1): 62-74.
  - 60. Zhong L, D'Urso A, Toiber D, Sebastian C, Henry RE, et al. (2010) The histone deacetylase Sirt6 regulates glucose homeostasis via Hif1alpha. Cell 140(2): 280-293.
  - 61. Xiao C, Kim HS, Lahusen T, Wang RH, Xu X, et al. (2010) SIRT6 Deficiency Results in Severe Hypoglycemia by Enhancing Both Basal and Insulin-stimulated Glucose Uptake in Mice. J Biol Chem 285(47): 36776-36784.
  - 62. Zhang P, Tu B, Wang H, Cao Z, Tang M, et al. (2014) Tumor suppressor p53 cooperates with SIRT6 to regulate gluconeogenesis by promoting FoxO1 nuclear exclusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(29): 10684-10689.
  - 63. Dominy JE Jr, Lee Y, Jedrychowski MP, Chim H, Jurczak MJ, et al. (2012) The Deacetylase Sirt6 Activates the Acetyltransferase GCN5 and Suppresses Hepatic Gluconeogenesis. Mol Cell 48(6): 900-913.
  - 64. Michishita E, McCord RA, Berber E, Kioi M, Padilla-Nash H, et al. (2008) SIRT6 is a histone H3 lysine 9 deacetylase that modulates telomeric chromatin. Nature 452(7186): 492-416.
  - 65. McCord RA, Michishita E, Hong T, Berber E, Boxer LD, et al. (2009) SIRT6 stabilizes DNA-dependent protein kinase at chromatin for DNA double-strand break repair. Aging (Albany NY) 1(1): 109-121.
  - 66. Kaidi A, Weinert BT, Choudhary C, Jackson SP (2010) Human SIRT6 Promotes DNA End Resection Through CtIP Deacetylation. Science 329(5997): 1348-1353.
  - 67. Mao Z1, Hine C, Tian X, Van Meter M, Au M, et al. (2011) SIRT6 Promotes DNA Repair Under Stress by Activating PARP1. Science 332(6036): 1443-1446.

- 68. Karmakar P. Snowden CM. Ramsden DA. Bohr VA (2002) Ku heterodimer binds to both ends of the Werner protein and functional interaction occurs at the Werner N-terminus. Nucleic Acids Res 30(16): 3583-3591.
- 69. Toiber D, Erdel F, Bouazoune K, Silberman DM, Zhong L, et al. (2013) SIRT6 recruits SNF2H to DNA break sites, preventing genomic instability through chromatin remodeling. Mol Cell 51(4): 454-468.
- 70. Schumacker PT (2010) A tumor suppressor SIRTainty. Cancer Cell 17(1): 5-6.
- 71. Rayet B, Gélinas C (1999) Aberrant rel/nfkb genes and activity in human cancer. Oncogene 18(49): 6938-6947.
- 72. Zhong L, D'Urso A, Toiber D, Sebastian C, Henry RE, et al. (2010) The Histone Deacetylase Sirt6 Regulates Glucose Homeostasis via Hif1 alpha. Cell 140(2): 280-293.
- 73. Pathak S. Multani AS. Furlong CL. Sohn SH (2002) Telomere dynamics, aneuploidy, stem cells, and cancer (review). International journal of oncology 20(3): 637-641.
- 74. Storchova Z, Pellman D (2004) From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nature reviews. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5(1): 45-54.
- 75. Zhang ZG, Qin CY (2014) Sirt6 suppresses hepatocellular carcinoma cell growth via inhibiting the extracellular signalregulated kinase signaling pathway. Mol Med Rep 9(3): 882-888.
- 76. Chen X, Hao B, Liu Y, Dai D, Han G, et al. (2014) The histone deacetylase SIRT6 suppresses the expression of the RNAbinding protein PCBP2 in glioma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 446(1): 364-369.
- 77. Qi W, Fitchev PS, Cornwell ML, Greenberg J, Cabe M, et al. (2013) FOXO3 growth inhibition of colonic cells is dependent on intraepithelial lipid droplet density. J Biol Chem 288(23): 16274-16281.
- 78. Lai CC, Lin PM, Lin SF, Hsu CH, Lin HC, et al. (2013) Altered expression of SIRT gene family in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Tumour Biol 34(3): 1847-1854.
- 79. Min L, Ji Y, Bakiri L, Qiu Z, Cen J, et al. (2012) Liver cancer initiation is controlled by AP-1 through SIRT6-dependent inhibition of survivin. Nat Cell Biol 14(11): 1203-1211.
- 80. Oesterreich S, Allredl DC, Mohsin SK, Zhang Q, Wong H, et al. (2001) High rates of loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 19p13 in human breast cancer. Br J Cancer 84(4) 493-498.
- 81. Sobottka SB, Haase M, Fitze G, Hahn M, Schackert HK, et al. (2000) Frequent loss of heterozygosity at the 19p13.3 locus without LKB1/STK11 mutations in human carcinoma metastases to the brain. J Neurooncol 49(3): 187-195.
- 82. Yang TL, Su YR, Huang CS, Yu JC, Lo YL, et al. (2004) Highresolution 19p13.2-13.3 allelotyping of breast carcinomas demonstrates frequent loss of heterozygosity. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 41(3): 250-256.
- 83. Lawlor MA, Alessi DR (2001) PKB/Akt: a key mediator of cell proliferation, survival and insulin responses? J Cell Sci 114(Pt 16): 2903-2910.
- 84. Vanhaesebroeck B, Alessi DR (2000) The PI3K-PDK1 101. Xiao C, Wang RH, Lahusen TJ, Park O, Bertola A, et al. (2012) connection: more than just a road to PKB. Biochem J 346 Pt 3, 561-576.

- 85. Vazquez F. Sellers WR (2000) The PTEN tumor suppressor protein: an antagonist of phosphoinositide 3-kinase signaling. Biochim Biophys Acta 1470(1): M21-35.
- 86. Wu X, Senechal K, Neshat MS, Whang YE, Sawyers CL (1998) The PTEN/MMAC1 tumor suppressor phosphatase functions as a negative regulator of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(26): 15587-15591.
- 87. Sakai A. Thieblemont C. Wellmann A. Jaffe ES. Raffeld M (1998) PTEN gene alterations in lymphoid neoplasms. Blood 92(9): 3410-3415.
- 88. Taylor V, Wong M, Brandts C, Reilly L, Dean NM, et al. (2000) 5' phospholipid phosphatase SHIP-2 causes protein kinase B inactivation and cell cycle arrest in glioblastoma cells. Mol Cell Biol 20(18): 6860-6871.
- 89. Somanath PR, Razorenova OV, Chen J, Byzova TV (2006) Akt1 in endothelial cell and angiogenesis. Cell cycle 5(5): 512-518.
- 90. Chen J, Somanath PR, Razorenova O, Chen WS, Hay N, et al. (2005) Akt1 regulates pathological angiogenesis, vascular maturation and permeability in vivo. Nature medicine 11(11): 1188-1196.
- 91. Shiojima I, Walsh K (2002) Role of Akt signaling in vascular homeostasis and angiogenesis. Circ res 90(12): 1243-1250.
- 92. Datta SR. Brunet A. Greenberg ME (1999) Cellular survival: a play in three Akts. Genes Dev 13(22): 2905-2927.
- 93. Cho H, Thorvaldsen JL, Chu Q, Feng F, Birnbaum MJ (2001) Akt1/PKBalpha is required for normal growth but dispensable for maintenance of glucose homeostasis in mice. J Biol Chem 276(42): 38349-38352.
- 94. Bae SS, Cho H, Mu J, Birnbaum MJ (2003) Isoform-specific regulation of insulin-dependent glucose uptake by Akt/protein kinase B. J Biol Chem 278(49): 49530-49536.
- 95. Cho H, Mu J, Kim JK, Thorvaldsen JL, Chu Q, et al. (2001) Insulin resistance and a diabetes mellitus-like syndrome in mice lacking the protein kinase Akt2 (PKB beta). Science 292(5522): 1728-1731.
- 96. Easton RM, Cho H, Roovers K, Shineman DW, Mizrahi M, et al. (2005) Role for Akt3/protein kinase Bgamma in attainment of normal brain size. Mol cell Biol 25(5): 1869-1878.
- 97. Bellacosa A, de Feo D, Godwin AK, Bell DW, Cheng JQ, et al. (1995) Molecular alterations of the AKT2 oncogene in ovarian and breast carcinomas. Int J Cancer 64(4): 280-285.
- 98. Sun M, Wang G, Paciga JE, Feldman RI, Yuan ZQ, et al. (2001) AKT1/PKBalpha kinase is frequently elevated in human cancers and its constitutive activation is required for oncogenic transformation in NIH3T3 cells. Am J Pathol 159(2): 431-437.
- Sundaresan NR, Vasudevan P, Zhong L, Kim G, Samant S, 99. et al. (2012) The sirtuin SIRT6 blocks IGF-Akt signaling and development of cardiac hypertrophy by targeting c-Jun. Nat Med18(11): 1643-1650.
- 100. Hua Y, Zhang Y, Ceylan-Isik AF, Wold LE, Nunn JM, et al. (2011) Chronic akt activation accentuates aging-induced cardiac hypertrophy and myocardial contractile dysfunction: role of autophagy. Basic Res Cardiol 106(6): 1173-1191.
- Progression of Chronic Liver Inflammation and Fibrosis Driven by Activation of c-JUN Signaling in Sirt6 Mutant Mice. J Biol Chem 287(50): 41903-41913.

- 102. Guarente L, Kenyon C (2000) Genetic pathways that regulate 119. Krop IE, Beeram M, Modi S, Jones SF, Holden SN, et al. (2010) ageing in model organisms. Nature 408(6809): 255-262.
- 103. Kenyon C (2001) A conserved regulatory system for aging. Cell 105(2): 165-168.
- 104. Gems D, Partridge L (2001) Insulin/IGF signalling and ageing: seeing the bigger picture. Curr Opin Genet Dev 11(3): 287-292.
- 105. Kenyon C, Chang J, Gensch E, Rudner A, Tabtiang R (1993) mutant that lives twice as long as wild type. Nature 366(6454): 461-464.
- insulin receptor-like gene that regulates longevity and diapause in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 277(5328): 942-946.
- gene in Caenorhabditis elegans lengthens life and reduces hermaphrodite fertility. Genetics 118(1): 75-86.
- 108. Morris JZ, Tissenbaum HA, Ruvkun G (1996) A phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase family member regulating longevity and diapause in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 123. Chang F, Lee JT, Navolanic PM, Steelman LS, Shelton JG, 382(6591): 536-539.
- 109. Clancy DJ, Gems D, Harshman LG, Oldham S, Stocker H, et al. (2001) Extension of life-span by loss of CHICO, a Drosophila
- 110. Tatar M, Kopelman A, Epstein D, Tu MP, Yin CM, et al. (2001) A mutant Drosophila insulin receptor homolog that extends lifespan and impairs neuroendocrine function. Science 292(5514): 107-110.
- 111. Holzenberger M, Dupont J, Ducos B, Leneuve P, Géloën A, et al. (2003) IGF-1 receptor regulates lifespan and resistance to oxidative stress in mice. Nature 421(6919): 182-187.
- 112. Graus-Porta D, Beerli RR, Daly JM, Hynes NE (1997) ErbB-2, the preferred heterodimerization partner of all ErbB receptors, is a mediator of lateral signaling. EMBO J 16(7): 1647-1655.
- 113. Yarden Y, Sliwkowski MX (2001) Untangling the ErbB signalling network. Nat Rev Mol Cell Bio 2(2): 127-137.
- 114. Park JW, Neve RM, Szollosi J, Benz CC (2008) Unraveling the 128. Zhou BP, Liao Y, Xia W, Zou Y, Spohn B, et al. (2001) HER-Biologic and Clinical Complexities of HER2. Clin Breast Cancer 8(5): 392-401.
- 115. Pivot X, Gligorov J, Müller V, Curigliano G, Knoop A, et al. (2014) 129. Margaret Ashcroft, Robert L Ludwig, Douglas B Woods, Terry Patients' preferences for subcutaneous trastuzumab versus conventional intravenous infusion for the adjuvant treatment of HER2-positive early breast cancer: final analysis of 488 patients in the international, randomized, two-cohort PrefHer study. Ann 130. Honda R, Yasuda H (2000) Activity of MDM2, a ubiquitin ligase, Oncol 25(10): 1979-1987.
- 116. Junttila TT, Akita RW, Parsons K, Fields C, Lewis Phillips GD, et al. (2009) Ligand-Independent HER2/HER3/PI3K Complex 131. Xiao C, Kim HS, Lahusen T, Wang RH, Xu X, et al. (2010) SIRT6 Is Disrupted by Trastuzumab and Is Effectively Inhibited by the PI3K Inhibitor GDC-0941. Cancer Cell 15(5): 429-440.
- 117. Zhuang G, Brantley-Sieders DM, Vaught D, Yu J, Xie L, et al. (2010) Elevation of Receptor Tyrosine Kinase EphA2 Mediates <sup>132.</sup> Sebastián C, Zwaans BM, Silberman DM, Gymrek M, Goren Resistance to Trastuzumab Therapy. Cancer Res 70(1): 299-308.
- 118. LoRusso PM, Weiss D, Guardino E, Girish S, Sliwkowski MX (2011) Trastuzumab Emtansine: A Unique Antibody-Drug 133. Nahta R, Yu D, Hung MC, Hortobagyi GN, Esteva FJ (2006) Conjugate in Development for Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2-Positive Cancer. Clin Cancer Res 17(20): 6437-6447.

- Phase I Study of Trastuzumab-DM1, an HER2 Antibody-Drug Conjugate, Given Every 3 Weeks to Patients With HER2-Positive Metastatic Breast Cancer, J Clini Oncol 28(16): 2698-2704.
- 120. Burris HA, Rugo HS, Vukelja SJ, Vogel CL, Borson RA, et al. (2011) Phase II Study of the Antibody Drug Conjugate Trastuzumab-DM1 for the Treatment of Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) - Positive Breast Cancer After Prior HER2-Directed Therapy. J Clin Oncol 29: 398-405.
- 106. Kimura KD, Tissenbaum HA, Liu Y, Ruvkun G (1997) daf-2, an 121. Miteva YV, Cristea IM (2013) A Proteomic Perspective of SIRT6 Phosphorylation and Interactions, and their Dependence on its Catalytic Activity. Mol Cell Proteomics 13(1): 168-183.
- 107. Friedman DB, Johnson TE (1988) A mutation in the age-1 122. Guevara-Aguirre J, Balasubramanian P, Guevara-Aguirre M, Wei M, Madia F, et al. (2011) Growth hormone receptor deficiency is associated with a major reduction in pro-aging signaling, cancer, and diabetes in humans. Science translational medicine 3(70): 70ra13.
  - et al. (2003) Involvement of PI3K/Akt pathway in cell cycle progression, apoptosis, and neoplastic transformation: a target for cancer chemotherapy. Leukemia 17(3): 590-603.
  - insulin receptor substrate protein. Science 292(5514): 104-106. 124. Hu CL, Cowan RG, Harman RM, Quirk SM (2004) Cell cycle progression and activation of Akt kinase are required for insulinlike growth factor I-mediated suppression of apoptosis in granulosa cells. Mol endocrinol 18(2): 326-338.
    - 125. Larsson O, Girnita A, Girnita L (2005) Role of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor signalling in cancer. Br J Cancer 92(12): 2097-2101.
    - 126. Xia W, Wei Y, Du Y, Liu J, Chang B, et al. (2009) Nuclear expression of epidermal growth factor receptor is a novel prognostic value in patients with ovarian cancer. Mol carcinog 48(7): 610-617.
    - 127. Miteva YV, Cristea IM (2014) A proteomic perspective of Sirtuin 6 (SIRT6) phosphorylation and interactions and their dependence on its catalytic activity. Mol Cell Proteomics 13(1): 168-183.
    - 2/neu induces p53 ubiguitination via Akt-mediated MDM2 phosphorylation. Nat cell biol 3(11): 973-982.
    - D Copeland, H Oliver Weber, et al. (2002) Phosphorylation of HDM2 by Akt. Oncogene 21(13): 1955-1962.
    - toward p53 or itself is dependent on the RING finger domain of the ligase. Oncogene 19(11): 1473-1476.
    - deficiency results in severe hypoglycemia by enhancing both basal and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in mice. J Biol Chem 285(47): 36776-36784.
    - A, et al. (2012) The histone deacetylase SIRT6 is a tumor suppressor that controls cancer metabolism. Cell 151(6):1185-1199.
    - Mechanisms of disease: understanding resistance to HER2targeted therapy in human breast cancer. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 3(5): 269-280.

- 134. She QB, Chandarlapaty S, Ye Q, Lobo J, Haskell KM, et 143. Sobottka SB, Haase M, Fitze G, Hahn M, Schackert HK, et al. al. (2008) Breast tumor cells with PI3K mutation or HER2 amplification are selectively addicted to Akt signaling. Plos One 3(8): e3065.
- Frequent mutational activation of the PI3K-AKT pathway in trastuzumab-resistant breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 18(24): 6784-6791.
- Akt expression and compartmentalization in prediction of clinical outcome in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer patients treated with trastuzumab. Int Joncol 41(4): 1204-1212.
- 137. Chan CH, Li CF, Yang WL, Gao Y, Lee SW, et al. (2012) The Skp2-SCF E3 ligase regulates Akt ubiquitination, glycolysis, herceptin sensitivity, and tumorigenesis. Cell 149(5): 1098-1111.
- Increased signalling of EGFR and IGF1R, and deregulation of PTEN/PI3K/Akt pathway are related with trastuzumab resistance in HER2 breast carcinomas. Br J Cancer 106(8): 1367-1373.
- 139. Ronnebaum SM, Wu Y, McDonough H, Patterson C (2013) The ubiquitin ligase CHIP prevents SirT6 degradation through noncanonical ubiquitination. Mol cell biol 33(22): 4461-4472.
- 140. Lin Z, Yang H, Tan C, Li J, Liu Z, et al. (2013) USP10 antagonizes 149. Rouleau M, Patel A, Hendzel MJ, Kaufmann SH, Poirier GG c-Myc transcriptional activation through SIRT6 stabilization to suppress tumor formation. Cell Rep 5(6): 1639-1649.
- 141. Min LH, Ji Y, Bakiri L, Qiu ZX, Cen J, et al. (2012) Liver cancer 150. Endicott JA, Noble ME (1998) Structural principles in cell-cycle initiation is controlled by AP-1 through SIRT6-dependent inhibition of survivin. Nature cell biology 14: 1203-1211.
- 142. Oesterreich S, Allredl DC, Mohsin SK, Zhang Q, Wong H, et al. (2001) High rates of loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 19p13 in human breast cancer. Br J Cancer 84(4): 493-498.

- (2000) Frequent loss of heterozygosity at the 19p13.3 locus without LKB1/STK11 mutations in human carcinoma metastases to the brain. J Neurooncol 49(3): 187-195.
- 135. Chandarlapaty S, Sakr RA, Giri D, Patil S, Heguy A, et al. (2012) 144. Yang TL, Su YR, Huang CS, Yu JC, Lo YL, et al. (2004) Highresolution 19p13.2-13.3 allelotyping of breast carcinomas demonstrates frequent loss of heterozygosity. Gene Chromosome Canc 41(3): 250-256.
- 136. Grell P, Fabian P, Khoylou M, Radova L, Slaby O, et al. (2012) 145. Nahta R, O'Regan RM (2010) Evolving strategies for overcoming resistance to HER2-directed therapy: targeting the PI3K/Akt/ mTOR pathway. Clin breast cancer 10 Suppl 3: S72-78.
  - 146. Zhang S, Huang WC, Li P, Guo H, Poh SB, et al. (2011) Combating trastuzumab resistance by targeting SRC, a common node downstream of multiple resistance pathways. Nat med 17(4): 461-469.
- 138. Gallardo A, Lerma E, Escuin D, Tibau A, Muñoz J, et al. (2012) 147. Junttila TT, Akita RW, Parsons K, Fields C, Lewis Phillips GD, et al. (2009) Ligand-independent HER2/HER3/PI3K complex is disrupted by trastuzumab and is effectively inhibited by the PI3K inhibitor GDC-0941. Cancer Cell 15(5): 429-440.
  - 148. Poon KA, Flagella K, Beyer J, Tibbitts J, Kaur S, et al. (2013) Preclinical safety profile of trastuzumab emtansine (T-DM1): mechanism of action of its cytotoxic component retained with improved tolerability. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 273(2): 298-313.
  - (2010) PARP inhibition: PARP1 and beyond. Nature reviews. Cancer 10(4): 293-301.
  - control: beyond the CDKs. Structure 6(5): 535-541.